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ABOUT THIS REPORT 
 
This report covers the period from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. It is prepared for the Minister for 
Health, the Parliament of Victoria and the community of Hepburn Shire, in accordance with 
government and legislative requirements and Financial Reporting Directives. 
The responsible Ministers during the reporting period were: 

The Honourable Jill Hennessy,  
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services  

01/07/2018 - 29/11/2018  

Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services  29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019  
Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health  01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019  
 

The Annual Report should be read in conjunction with the Quality Account, both of which will be presented at the 
Hepburn Health Service Annual General Meeting towards the end of the year. Following this, both reports will be 
available at www.hhs.vic.gov.au. A limited number of printed copies are also available. If you would like a printed 
copy, please call 03 5321 6500. 
 

ESTABLISHMENT OF HEPBURN HEALTH 
Hepburn Health Service was established in 1998 under the Victorian Health Services Act 1988. It was formed through 
the amalgamation of the Western Highlands Health Service (formerly Daylesford and Creswick Hospitals), Trentham 
Bush Nursing Hospital, and Clunes District Health Service. 

Traditional Owners 
Hepburn Health respectfully acknowledges the Dja Dja Wurrung people as the Traditional Owners and the original 
inhabitants of our region. Dja Dja Wurrung country incorporates a large portion of land in the Central region of 
Victoria between the Avoca and Loddon Rivers. 

DIVERSITY COMMITMENT 
Hepburn Health recognises, supports and celebrates the diversity of the communities within which we work. Our 
services are delivered to people of all ages and health status with a focus on care of the aged and disadvantaged. 
Visit hhs.vic.gov.au for our full diversity statement.  HHS was accredited with an organisational wide Rainbow Tick in 
March 2019. 

 

OUR VISION 
Excellence in rural health and wellbeing. 

 

OUR STATEMENT OF INTENT 
We will provide high quality, person-centred and integrated health and wellness services across the Shire of Hepburn 
to ensure consumers receive the care they need in the appropriate setting. 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
Editor: Casey Fletcher & Merryn Tinkler 
Design and Layout: Casey Fletcher & Merryn Tinkler 
Major Financial report contributors: Brenda Rooney & Darlene Urban
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OUR VALUES AND CULTURE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

RESPECT 
We demonstrate this by: 
 applying principles of 

fairness and 
dignity in all our 
dealings; 

 responding to 
community and 
individual needs; 

 respecting the people 
we work 
with; and 

 respecting the rights of 
our clients and carers. 

INTEGRITY 
We demonstrate this by: 
 being open and 

transparent; 
 working in accordance 

with the Hepburn Health 
Service 
Code of Conduct; and 

 complying with our 
professional and legal 
requirements in all our 
dealings. 

CREATIVITY 
We demonstrate this by: 
 valuing innovation; 
 encouraging and 

participating in ongoing 
staff 
training and 
development; 
and 

 belief in the capacity of 
staff to question and 
explore new 
ideas. 

CARE 
We demonstrate this by: 
 care for our colleagues, 

clients and the 
community; 

 commitment to person 
centred 
care; and 

 working to deliver the 
highest standards of 
service and care. 
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DELIVERING A PERSON-CENTRED SERVICE 
Being a person‐centred health service means putting our consumers at the centre of all that we do. It means 
involving them in all aspects of their care, respecting their values and recognising individual needs and responding 
accordingly. 
Our approach to being a person‐centred health service is guided by seven core principles. These principles are 
delivered by our highly skilled and dedicated workforce who embody our core values of Respect, Creativity, Integrity 
and Care. 
 

ABOUT HEPBURN HEALTH SERVICE 
Our Service Profile   
Hepburn Health is a major provider of public health and 

wellbeing services across Hepburn Shire in Central 

Victoria. In 2018-19 Hepburn Health had total annual 

expenditure of $32 million and employed a workforce 

of 350 staff and 210 volunteers working from our sites 

in Clunes, Creswick, Daylesford, and Trentham.  

Our communities are richly diverse with wide 

differences in health and wellbeing status. A complex 

range of ongoing       services are required for our rural 

population of over 15,000 people. Being located within 

a major tourist region brings added complexity with 

large population fluctuations. Our region experiences 

above the Victorian state average in the incidence of 

chronic disease, socio-economic disadvantage and 

population ageing. 

Hepburn Health is committed to providing dynamic 

and innovative community outreach and bed-based 

services, either directly or through effective 

partnership arrangements. Incorporating health 

promotion principles, our    services encompass all 

stages of life, including keeping people well, early 

intervention, treatment of illness, and aged care 

through to dignified dying. 

 

 

 
 

 

Communities We Serve 
Hepburn Health supports a rural population of over 

15,000 people across 1,473 square kilometres. 

Approximately 55 percent of our population reside in 

the major townships of Clunes, Creswick, Daylesford 

and Trentham with the remaining population (45 

percent) residing in the many small townships, villages  

and rural areas across the Shire. 

 

Scale of Operations 

 
Servicing our community of 15,000 people 

Services located across 1437 square kms 

Annual Expenditure of $32m 

560 Staff and volunteers providing care to our 

communities  

1354 hospital admissions 

1484 urgent care presentations  
(non admitted) 

 
352 surgical procedures 

16,360 hours of home nursing   

 

 With a staff headcount of 350, Hepburn Health is the largest employer in Hepburn Shire. Our workforce are 

employed across a diverse range of service areas including nursing, administration & clerical, hotel and      

environmental services, allied health, and medical support. 
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OUR SERVICES 
At Hepburn Health we deliver a comprehensive range of integrated programs and services that are focussed on 

maintaining and improving the health and wellbeing of those living in our communities. 

Community Aged Care 
The Integrated Community Aged Care (ICAC) 

department provides a single point of access for older 

people or their carers seeking information on aged care 

services provided by Hepburn Health.  Hepburn Health 

is an approved provider of the Australian Government 

subsidised aged care services from the basic level 

provided under the Commonwealth Home Support 

Program through to Home Care Packages and then 

residential respite or permanent aged care.  ICAC 

works to provide continuity of service through the 

Commonwealth Aged Care Reforms.  

Hepburn Health continues to provide transition care on 

behalf of Ballarat Health Services and the State 

Government Department of Health. The majority of 

older Australians wish to remain in their own homes for 

as long as possible and we are there to support them. 

If and when an older person is no longer able to remain 

at home, we are able to offer a range of 

accommodation options at our residential aged care 

facilities located at Creswick, Daylesford and 

Trentham. In 2018-2019 there were 40 entries into 

residential permanent care from people on the waitlist, 

many of whom had experienced our community based 

programs.   

The range of home care services provided by ICAC staff 

include Home Care Packages, Home Nursing & 

Personal Care, Social Support and Transition Care. The 

Manager and administration team also provide 

support to the health service in managing the 

Residential Aged Care Wait List and the Nurse Bank. 

The Manager ICAC plays a lead role in the coordination 

of two support groups for people caring for someone 

living with dementia which are held monthly in 

Daylesford and Clunes. 

In 2018-19 the number of Home Care Packages 

provided remained around 30 which was consistent 

with the previous year. The Home Nursing and 

Personal Care Program provided a range of generalist 

and specialist nursing care including palliative care, 

post-acute care, hospital in the home, wound care, 

medication management, continence, diabetes and 

dementia advice and management. The personal care 

type activities offered included assistance with daily 

living, respite, and transport. Overall, nearly 500 clients 

were serviced throughout the year by the much 

appreciated district nurses and personal carers. The 

very active and popular Social Support Program 

facilitated over 100 frail, older people to participate in 

community life and feel socially included through 

structured, group based activities that develop, 

maintain or support independent living and social 

interaction. It provided centre based planned activity 

groups and social activity outings.  Bed based transition 

care was provided in Creswick and Daylesford Hospitals 

and Trentham Hostel and home based in the 

communities of the Hepburn Shire.   

Residential Aged Care 
Our Creswick, Daylesford and Trentham residential 

aged care facilities provide high-level care for 

permanent residents as well as those requiring short 

term ‘respite care’. 

Our facilities are staffed by registered and enrolled 

nursing staff 24 hours a day, with regular visiting allied 

health services such as physiotherapy, occupational 

therapy, dietitian, and podiatry. We are also able to 

arrange urgent referrals to these and other allied 

health services to meet unexpected resident needs. 

Our local GPs visit on a regular basis and are available 

daily and after hours for emergencies. 

Meals are cooked in-house and residents have a range 

of options for each meal, as well as access to snacks 

between meals and overnight whenever needed. 

Our Lifestyle Programs are planned around individual 

residents’ likes and needs, with a range of activities to   

participate in and outings to attend. We have 

dedicated lifestyle staff who are able to discuss 

personal preferences and choices with residents, and 

assist residents to maintain the social activities they 

enjoy. 

Our three sites are small facilities, which means we get 

to really know our residents and our residents get to  

know us. We also have regular staff who take pride in 

the care they give and strive to ensure the best service 

possible. 
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Creswick Nursing Home has received funding through 

the Regional Health Infrastructure Fund to re-develop 

and upgrade the facility. The works will see some 

current double bedrooms converted to single rooms 

with ensuites, the development of dedicated dining, 

lounge and activity spaces and the inclusion of an 

internal courtyard to allow natural light into the facility 

and provide safe access to an outside space for 

residents. These works will enhance the living 

experience for our residents and provide a 

comfortable, inviting environment for staff and 

visitors.  

Trentham Aged care facility has commenced its 

redevelopment on 24th June 2019, with an expected 5 

month completion time. The works include widening of 

doors to 20 hostel rooms, removal and refurbishment 

of inbuilt furniture, overhead hoists are also being 

installed in the hostel rooms. The dining room area is 

being extended which will enhance the dining 

experience for the residents. The refurbishment will 

allow us to offer true aging in place. 

Palliative Care  
Daylesford and Creswick sites provide palliative care 

for people of all ages who have a life limiting illness, 

with little or no prospect of cure, and for whom the 

primary treatment goal is to help people live their life 

as fully and comfortably as possible. End of life care is 

the last few weeks of life when the patient is rapidly 

approaching death.  

The high quality palliative care provided at Creswick 

has recently been enhanced by improvements to the 

dedicated palliative care room through a private 

donation. Research indicates the value and importance 

of creating a home-like, peaceful environment for end 

of life care.  

A less institutional, warm welcoming room can 

empower patients, reduce stress and improve 

perceptions of care.  

This palliative phase ensures increased services and 

support which extends to the family and the 

bereavement services. Palliative care is also provided 

in the community and aged care facilities of Hepburn 

Health. We believe that the patient be afforded dignity 

and privacy whilst remaining in control of their health  

care by issuing advance care directives which ensure 

their wishes are respected. Hepburn Health staff 

provide information and expertise as required and  

 

support the patient’s right to any spiritual or emotional 

support they request. 

We acknowledge the patient and their family’s right to 

have the time to say goodbye, not to prolong life 

pointlessly and control who is present at the end.  

Voluntary Assisted Dying 
On June 19 2019, following the passage of the 

Voluntary Assisted Dying Act by the Victorian 

Government in November 2017, Victorian’s at the end 

of life who are suffering and meet strict criteria can 

request access to Voluntary Assisted Dying. 

Hepburn Health Services became a Pathway B – 

Partnership Service thereby providing access to some 

of the necessary medical practitioners. The Health 

Service may use existing external partnerships and 

referral pathways to identify an appropriate medical 

practitioner or alternatively contact the voluntary 

assisted dying care navigators for assistance. HHS can 

also provide information and support for enquiries or 

requests regarding voluntary assisted dying 

Acute Care 
Creswick Acute Hospital - The nursing, medical and 

allied health teams at Creswick Hospital collaborate to 

provide quality care to the local community and 

surrounding areas. Doctors from Creswick Medical 

Centre visit Monday to Friday and provide an after-

hours on-call service to ensure continuity of care and 

services.  

The hospitals 10 bed unit provides sub-acute care as 

well as supportive care through the Transition Care 

Program (TCP). TCP supports people following an acute 

hospital episode who require more time to optimise 

their functional capacity or finalise their longer term 

care arrangements. 

Daylesford Acute Hospital has an 18 bed unit caring for 

both medical and surgical admissions across a large 

variety of illnesses, injuries and conditions.   

Depending on a patient’s requirements, we utilise a 

person-centred approach with a collaboration of 

professionals, including Visiting Medical Officers 

(VMOs), Dieticians, Enrolled and Registered Nurses, 

Physiotherapists, Speech Pathologists, Occupational 

Therapists, and Transition Care Program (TCP)/Case 

Managers.  

This multidisciplinary approach ensures identification 

of any needs throughout a patient’s stay, as well as 

identifying any needs the patient may have to assist 
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staying safe and healthy after leaving hospital. 

Along with medical and surgical admissions, the acute 

ward also cares for people in the palliative phase of 

their illness and those undergoing renal dialysis and 

attending the Urgent Care Centre.   

Integrated Primary Care 
As the lead provider of community health services 

across Hepburn Shire, we promote health and 

wellbeing to a diverse community of over 15,000 

people through a comprehensive range of primary 

healthcare services across all our sites 

Physical Wellbeing: Dietetics, diabetes education, 

Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy, Podiatry, 

Speech Pathology. 

Mental Wellbeing: Alcohol & other drug services, 

Psychology, Social Work & Welfare Services, Services 

and Treatment for Enduring and Persistent Mental 

Illness (STEPMI).   

Oral Health: Public Dental (adult & children), Smiles 4 

Miles, School Dental Program. 

Maternal & Child Health: Key ages and stages, child 

development and wellbeing assessments, parenting 

advice and support, maternal and family wellbeing 

assessment, 

Population Health: Health Promotion. Priority areas of: 

Mental Wellbeing, Youth, Mental Wellbeing, Hepburn 

Shire Residents, healthy eating & active living, 

supported playgroup- offering smalltalk program. 

Infection Prevention and Control 
The primary role of the Infection Prevention and 

Control Service is to prevent patients, residents, 

visitors and staff from acquiring preventable 

healthcare associated infections and effectively 

manage infections when they occur by using evidence-

based practices. However, just as there is no single 

cause of infection, there is no single solution to the 

problems posed by healthcare associated infections. 

Successful infection prevention and control requires a 

collaborative approach and several strategies across all 

levels of the Healthcare System.  

· Governance 

· Risk identification and management 

· Surveillance activities to identify areas for action and 

quality improvements. 

· Safe and appropriate prescribing of Antimicrobial 

agents/ consumer engagement and stewardship. 

Hepburn Health Service Infection Control Consultant is 

an active member of the Grampians Region Infection 

Control Group, this group was established in 2000 as 

part of the Victorian Government's initiative to 

facilitate a coordinated approach to the 

implementation of a state wide infection control 

strategic framework. The group consists of the two 

DHHS Regional Infection Control Advisors (Mary Smith 

and Sue Atkins) and one Infection Control Consultant 

from each public health service organisation in the 

Grampians Region 

The purpose of the regional group is to:  

· Provide a forum for liaison between agency infection 

control consultants 

· Provide on-site support to the agency infection 

control consultants 

· Develop generic resources that can be used by the 

whole region and beyond 

· To conduct inter-agency benchmarking projects 

· To work with the Rural Infection Control Practice 

Group to conduct inter-regional benchmarking 

projects 

Infection prevention and control requirements are 

driven by legalisation, regulation, and accreditation 

and government indicators.   

Surgical services 
Hepburn Health Service has one fully functioning 

operating suite. Visiting specialists and anaesthetists 

conduct weekly elective operating lists at Daylesford 

Hospital, allowing Hepburn Shire residents to have 

surgery close to home, thereby avoiding the need to 

travel to regional and metropolitan hospitals. General 

surgery scope of practice at Hepburn Health Service 

includes, but is not limited to, colonoscopy, 

gastroscopy, hernia repairs, carpal tunnel repairs and 

excision of lesion. 

In 2018-2019, 281 local residents utilised the surgical 

service provided by Hepburn Health Service with 352 

procedures conducted. 29 patients were seen under 

the National Bowel Cancer Screening Program.  

Urgent Care Centre 
Hepburn Health Service offers an Urgent Care Centre 

(UCC) at Daylesford Hospital, which is open 24 hours a 

day, seven days a week, to provide the community with 

health care for the acutely ill and injured.  

The patient will be assessed on arrival by a registered 

nurse who will assess the patient to determine the 

urgency of the patient’s condition.  
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Whilst in the Urgent Care Centre, treatment may be 

delivered by one or a combination of:  

· Registered nurse following phone consultation with a 

general practitioner (GP) or higher level health 

service 

· Rural and Isolated Practice Endorsed Registered 

Nurse (RIPERN) (this nurse has undertaken further 

education to enable then to provide a higher level 

of care without a GP being present, using a health 

management protocol) 

· General practitioner who can assess, treat and  

determine definitive care requirements 

· Or a combination of health care professionals 

The type of conditions that we can treat include, but 

are not limited to: 

· Accidents and falls 
· Sprains and broken bones 
· Back problems 
· Breathing difficulties 
· Abdominal pain 
· Bleeding/cuts—requiring stitches 
· High fever 
· Vomiting, diarrhoea, dehydration 
· Severe sore throat or cough 
· Mild to moderate asthma 
· Snake Bites 

Patients brought in by ambulance are triaged and 

assessed by the Registered Nurse or RIPERN. 

Stabilisation, observation and minor treatment can be 

undertaken by the nurse, then the on-call Visiting 

Medical Officer from Springs Medical Centre or the on-

call Telehealth Medical Practitioner is contacted to 

review if required. If the patient requires services or 

care which are not available at Daylesford Hospital, 

appropriate transfer arrangements to Ballarat Base 

Hospital will be made.  

Dialysis Daylesford 
Daylesford Dialysis Unit is a rural satellite of the Royal 

Melbourne Hospital with the ability to treat up to three 

patients at any one time with a maximum of six 

patients daily. Hours and days of operation vary 

depending on workload, with scope to increase if 

required, although generally are three days per week 

on Monday, Wednesday and Friday. The unit is 

regularly running from 7am-7pm on those days to 

accommodate patient demand. 

Patients admitted into Daylesford Dialysis Unit are 

managed by specialist trained dialysis staff who 

welcome, admit,   orientate and treat patients within 

the unit. Staff on the acute ward assist the dialysis 

nurse in this process when required. This is done under 

supervision of the specialists at the Northwest Dialysis 

Service. 

Post-Acute Care (PAC) 
The Post-Acute Care Program at Daylesford Hospital 

provides additional support via community-based 

services to assist people on discharge following a public 

hospital admission, urgent care presentation, or as an 

interim support measure prior to the commencement 

of longer term care. The program aims to prevent 

hospital readmission.  

The services PAC can provide will depend on a 

thorough risk screen/assessment which is carried out 

as an inpatient and is tailored to fit the patient’s needs. 

This includes: 

· Explanation of program to all patients or carers  

· Obtaining consent prior to service commencement 

· Determination of services required 

· Creation of a program tailored to requirements 

· Review of the program whilst in place and 

consideration of how the patient will manage once 

the service is completed. 

People who are referred to the PAC program are 

contacted regularly by the PAC Co-ordinator to monitor 

if the services they are receiving are beneficial and 

progressing well. The program runs for a period of four 

weeks, whereby the individual will receive most of 

these services free, and may include any combination 

of the following common services: 

· District Nurse visits 

· Personal Hygiene assistance 

· Home care assistance 

· Shopping assistance 

· Carer respite 

· Setup of personal safety alarms (subsidised or at cost) 

· Meals on Wheels (cost to client) 

· Physiotherapy 
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REPORT FROM BOARD CHAIR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, we are 
pleased to present the Report of Operations for Hepburn 
Health for the year ending 30 June 2019. 
 

 

It has been a very productive year for Hepburn Health 

Service as we strive to deliver on our strategic purpose to 

provide high quality person centred and integrated health 

and wellness services across the Shire of Hepburn, ensuring 

consumers receive the care they need in the appropriate 

setting. This annual report provides a snapshot of our 

achievements and challenges across the year, highlighting 

just some of the varied services and programs we offer and 

the impact they have. 

 

Occupancy in our residential aged care facilities in Creswick, 

Trentham and Daylesford remained high throughout the 

year, and we’re pleased to report that the resident’s 

experience of care is also recorded as high in our ongoing 

experience surveys.  There was a 10% increase in Urgent 

Care presentations, and we’re currently working to further 

increase access to afterhours care.  We also experienced an 

increase in the number of beddays utilised.  

 

The Population Health team focused on partnering in priority 

areas that include Mental Wellbeing, Healthy Eating and 

Active living.  A highlight included the delivery of the Cook, 

the Chef and Us at Daylesford College resulting in the 

program being a finalist in the improving mental wellbeing 

category for the 2018 VicHealth Awards and the Primary 

Prevention award for the 2019 AOD Awards for the Alcohol 

and Drug Foundation. The Achievement Program has 

facilitated great work with a range of schools and Kinder’s 

across the Shire. Our focus on engaging with the community 

has included a Creswick Play Day, Reconciliation Week 

Children’s Event, Daylesford Motorfest Health Pit stop along 

with consultancy work for Hepburn Shire’s Active Women 

and Girls strategy.  

 

We have also been busy with capital improvements this year 

and significant progress has been achieved.  The reception 

area in the Integrated Primary Care building has undergone 

a refurbishment, and was updated with a refreshed and 

modern look.  The area is now open plan and includes new 

security features that improve the safety of clients and 

staff.  Work in the main hospital building at Daylesford was 

completed to install swipe card access to all restricted areas.   

 

The Trentham facility is currently undergoing a 

transformation.  Doors to residents’ rooms have been 

widened to enable better handling of lifting and other 

equipment, coupled with overhead hoists, enables safe 

movement of residents with limited mobility. The 

installation of automatic sliding doors will also improve 

access to the outdoor areas and improvements to the dining 

room which is being enlarged to make the area more 

comfortable. 

 

Plans are underway to remodel the Creswick facility to 

accommodate a dementia friendly environment, with an 

open and contemporary design.  13 new residents’ rooms 

will be built, with private bathrooms being built around an 

internal courtyard, to allow residents safe access to an 

outdoor space.  The outdoor space will facilitate natural light 

in the facility, and allow residents with limited mobility to 

enjoy a calming and relaxing outdoor view.   

 

Minor works were completed in two of the units at the 

Trentham Retirement Village (St Georges Court).  New 

kitchens were installed as well as new floor covers and 

painting.  The Palliative care room at Creswick was also 

refreshed, which included new flooring, painting, LED 

lighting installation and furniture.   

 

Hepburn Health also successfully bid for capital grants to 

replace medical equipment.  During 2018/19, in the 

operating room we were able to replace the colonscope, 

light source and processor.  The updated equipment 

improves the accuracy and efficiency of the procedure. 

 

Throughout the year we continued to participate in an 

ongoing program of external accreditation reviews to ensure 

we continue to provide safe, effective care to our patients, 

residents and clients. Our hospitals, community and 

residential services are all fully accredited. 

 

In October 2018 our acute services successfully underwent 

an accreditation review which confirmed our compliance 

with National Safety & Quality Health Service Standards.  

 

In January 2019 our Daylesford Residential Aged Care service 

underwent a re-accreditation audit and, following a focus to 

improve the lifestyle program, was found to be fully 

compliant with all standards.  Improvements generated by 

this process have been shared and well received across the  
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whole organisation.  In February 2019 our Creswick Nursing 

Home also underwent a re-accreditation audit and was 

found to be fully compliant. 

 

We were also thrilled to achieve full accreditation with 

Rainbow Tick Standards for all services in March 2019. We 

are thankful to those LGBTI community members whose 

advice and guidance were instrumental in this achievement. 

 

We thank our volunteers who assist with a wide range of 

activities including Meals on Wheels, Auxillaries, the L2P 

learner Driver Mentor Program, social support outings and 

the new biography program – Beyond Words. This year the 

volunteers have contributed more than 14000 hours of 

service to our residents and community.   We’re indebted to 

them for their dedication to improving the health and 

wellbeing and reducing social isolation for the people they 

support in their various roles.   

 

We’re also thrilled to advise a fundraising result more than 

triple the amount reported last year. We have received cash, 

commitments and gifts-in-kind totalling over $200,000. This 

has been received from an ever widening pool of supporters. 

We are profoundly and equally grateful to all donors, ranging 

from the purchasers of $2 raffle tickets, through to a 

benefactor leaving us over $60,000 in his will, to all our local 

Community Banks providing a total of almost $110,000 

during the year. Beyond the financial benefits of our 

fundraising activity, we have also redoubled our efforts to 

derive equally valuable yet perhaps less tangible benefits 

such as enhanced awareness and profile as well as greater 

personalised engagement with community, media, staff and 

volunteers. Indicative of this focus was the pre-Christmas 

Twilight Market conducted at our Creswick campus in 

December. This and indeed all our fundraising, events and 

marketing activity is truly a team partnership across all 

sectors of the organisation working closely together with the 

communities we serve. 

 

Future Direction 

The long term future of Hepburn Health Service was an 

organisational priority for the board and management  

 

during 2018-2019. Following a series of Strategic Planning 

days with our board, executive, and Visiting Medical Officers, 

the 2018-2021 Strategic Plan was developed, outlining our 

goals for the next three years. The plan focusses our efforts 

on achieving outcomes for the people and communities we 

serve as well as specific objectives to improve our individual 

programs and enhance our responsiveness in the light of 

significant reforms and expectations we are facing, 

particularly in the aged care sector. 

 

Our board and management also spent time with their 

counterparts at Kyneton District Health Service, charting 

shared objectives and priorities. Maree Cuddihy continued 

in her role as Joint-CEO and the organisations explored a 

proposal to join health services to improve patient care and 

community health outcomes. Following significant 

community and staff consultation during the early part of 

2019 the boards of both organisations considered due 

diligence analysis of clinical, governance, financial, 

technological, regulatory and human resource impacts of a 

proposed merger. The proposal for the voluntary 

amalgamation of Hepburn Health Service and Kyneton 

District Health was formally endorsed by the two boards and 

submitted to Government.  

 

As we look to the future and anticipate the outcome of the 

decision of Government, we know that the year ahead will 

contain challenges for our board, management and staff as 

we evolve to best meet the long-term requirements of our 

community.  

 

It is immensely pleasing to see our more than 530 number of 

staff and volunteers remain resilient and positive in the face 

of the many changes across the sector.  Their unwavering 

service and commitment to our patients, clients and 

residents is inspiring and we are truly blessed to have such 

dedicated people serving our community. 

 

We thank the Board for their stewardship, strategic advice 

and guidance on decision making and overall their 

unwavering commitment to Hepburn Health Service and its 

future sustainability.  

 

 

 

 

Phillip Thomson 

Chair, HHS Board of Directors  

6 September 2019 
  
 

 

 

 

 

      Maree Cuddihy 

      CEO, HHS 

     6 September 2019 
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Statement of Priorities 
Part A: Strategic Priorities 
 

Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

Better Health 

A system geared to prevention 
as much as treatment 

 

Everyone understands their 
own health and risks 

 

Illness is detected and managed 
early 

 

Healthy neighbourhoods and 
communities encourage 
healthy lifestyles 

Better Health 

Reduce Statewide risks 

 

Build healthy neighbourhoods 

 

Help people to stay healthy 

 

Target health gaps 

By December 2018 the revised 
Integrated Health Promotion Plan will 
include strategies to address state-
wide risks in addition to current 
regional priority areas of healthy 
eating, active living and mental 
wellbeing (families and young 
people). 

Integrated Health Promotion Plan 2017-
2021, Annual Action Plan 2018/19 
submitted to DHHS. 

This plan includes addressing local 
priorities that feed into addressing some 
of the State-wide risks outlined in the 
Victorian public health and wellbeing plan 
2015-2019.  HHS is working towards 
reducing harmful alcohol and drug use, 
improving sexual and reproductive health 
and building healthy and sustainable 
environments.  

We are strengthening partnerships 
including Hepburn Shire Council, 
Education, Early Years and Sports Central 
to encourage positive health outcomes 
for our local communities throughout the 
life cycle using a place-based and person 
centred approach. 
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

Better Access 

Care is always there when 
people need it 

 

More access to care in the 
home and community 

 

People are connected to the full 
range of care and support they 
need 
 

There is equal access to care 

Better Access 

Plan and invest 
 

Unlock innovation 

 

Provide easier access 

 

Ensure fair access 

 

By June 2019 Hepburn Health 
Service (HHS) will have applied 
co-design principles to engage 
our consumers and strategic 
partners and document our 
integrated service delivery 
model and implementation plan.  

Work continues with all Acute 
Hospitals and especially Ballarat 
Health Service to transfer local 
patients back to HHS once stable 
for ongoing management.  We 
have support from the local GP’s 
regarding continuation of care. 
For Quarter 4, 2019 as compared 
to same quarter 2018 we have 
had a >50% increase in patients 
returning for care at HHS.  

Hepburn Health Services is 
now setup as a service 
provider that can be accessed 
via My Aged Care service 
finder. We are currently 
operating 32 Home Care 
Packages. 

New phone message 
implemented highlighting Urgent 
Care Centre (UCC) Operational 
Hours.  
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

  By June 2019 there will be 10 per cent 
increase in Urgent Care Centre 
presentations as a result of 
strengthening our workforce 
capability and responsiveness thereby 
enabling effective service provision to 
the community.   

 HHS is still working to increase 
utilisation of the UCC.  There have 
been Meetings with stakeholders to 
reinforce the hours of operation and 
clinical capability of the service. 

HHS in the process of building a new 
internet page that will have improved 
communication to our consumers 
regarding the range of services we 
provide and how to access them. 

From July 2018 to June 2019 there 
has been >20% increase in 
presentations in the UCC.  It is 
expected to increase with the PHN 
after hours Telehealth Pilot being 
implemented by 2nd September 2019 
where access to Emergency 
Physicians will occur afterhours via 
Myemergency Doctor app.  

  By December 2018 Hepburn Health 
Service will have a Business Case that 
outlines its future role in home and 
community care. 

The Report has been delayed until 
late August 2019 awaiting the 
Consultant’s report. 
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

Better Care 

Target zero avoidable harm 

 

Healthcare that focusses on 
outcomes 

 

Patients and carers are active 
partners in care 

 

Care fits together around 
people’s needs 

 

Better Care 

Put quality first 
 

Join up care 
 

Partner with patients 
 

Strengthen the workforce 
 

Embed evidence 
 

Ensure equal care 

By December 2018 revise and 
strengthen the health service’s Clinical 
Governance Framework. 

 

HHS Clinical Governance Framework 
aligns with SCV’s framework and 
domains. Below is a summary of 2018-
19 activities associated with HHS’s 
clinical governance framework: 

Leadership & Culture 

 Completion of HHS Strategic Plan 

2018-2021. 

 Introduction of regular CEO Forums 

and CEO Newsletters to improve 

communication between executive 

and frontline staff. 

 Appointment of a Chief Operating 

Officer in December 2018 as an 

integral member of the Senior 

Leadership Team. 

 Board engagement evidenced 

through signing of clinical 

governance attestation statement, 

and attendance at clinical 

governance training provided by 

SCV. 
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

    Stable clinical governance and 

reporting structure.  

 Measures relating to performance 

against strategic goals and SoP 

priorities included in service level 

Business & Quality Plans. 

 Digital health – implementation of 

scanned electronic patient records 

in Daylesford acute care 

Consumer Partnership 

 Recruitment and establishment of 

a Consumer Advisory Committee. 

 Achievement of Rainbow Tick 

(LGBTI) accreditation for whole of 

service. 

 Introduction of the Healthcare 

Complaints Analysis Tool to 

measure complaint domains and 

trends. 

 Commitment to two ‘partnering in 

healthcare’ (SCV) domains to 

focus on during 2019-20. 
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

   Workforce 

 Recruitment to key management 

and clinical positions. 

 Monthly induction program for all 

new staff. 

 Participation in 2019 People 

Matter Survey (56%). 

Risk Management 

 Quarterly review of strategic, 

clinical and operational risks. 

 Completion of Risk Maturity 

Assessment to identify and 

prioritise opportunities to improve 

risk culture. 

 Review of Legislative Compliance 

Register and assignment of 

executives responsible for 

oversight of key legislation. 

 Adoption of SCV Open Disclosure 

Framework to HHS policy and 

practices. 
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

   Clinical Practice 

 Revised clinical practice & risk 

committee structure in response to 

diversity of services. 

 Clinical data reported with 

reference to high clinical risks 

(priority) and compliance. 

Review (ongoing) of training 
requirements, priorities and 
opportunities to build on staff skills and 
knowledge. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Participate in the regional Clinical 
Governance Project to build our 
capability to identify and address 
clinical governance gaps. 

 

A gap analysis was conducted by the 
Grampians Region Clinical Governance 
Audit project on 19 November 2018 
with a final report provided in June 
2019.  

Recommendations are currently being 
reviewed and considered by relevant 
HHS executives and committees. 

  Participate in design of strategies for 
inclusion in a Regional Clinical 
Governance Improvement Plan by May 
2019. 

 

By December 2018 document the 
Community Participation Framework 
and action plan 

HHS is a member of the Regional Clinical 
Governance Sub-Committee responsible for 
this Plan.  

HHS has representation on the Grampians 
Clinical Governance CEO sub-committee, 
and has been actively involved in the 
development of recommendations made 
from the Regional Clinical Governance Gap 
Analysis. 

A final report with recommendations was 
completed in June 2019 and is scheduled for 
CEO-group discussion and sign-off in early 
July 2019. 
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Goals  Strategies Health Service Deliverables  Outcome 

Specific 2018-19 priorities 
(mandatory) 

Disability Action Plans 

Draft disability action plans are completed in 
2018-19.   

By June 2019 submit a draft disability 
action plan to the department by 30 
June 2019, which aligns with its 
Diversity Plan. The draft plan will 
outline the approach to full 
implementation within three years of 
publication. 

 

The Disability Plan for HHS has been 
developed and reflects the focus areas 
in the Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP).  
Integral to the Diversity Plan is 
membership to CoRE (Community of 
Respect and Equality) for the 
Grampians and Pyrenees Regions 
(Central Highlands).  HHS are a CoRE 
member organisation and we have built 
further capability in the Community of 
Practice and implementing diversity 
initiatives across Hepburn Health.   
Further capability is underway with the 
Regional consultant the HHS Workforce 
& Volunteer Strategic Plans to further 
build on development of the HHS 
Diversity Plan into the next 3 years. 
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcome 

Volunteer engagement 

Ensure that the health service executives have 
appropriate measures to engage and recognise 
volunteers. 

By June 2019 finalise a future workforce 
and volunteer strategy and 
implementation plan informed by the 
new strategic plan and integrated 
service delivery model. 

Continue to strengthen and measure 
the benefits of our volunteer program 
and ensure recognition through regular 
volunteer awards, inclusion of 
volunteers in new staff induction 
program and hosting regular forums for 
volunteers and executives to engage. 

Draft Volunteer Workforce Plan 2019-
2022, completed & awaiting 
endorsement from SLT. 

Volunteers are now included as 
presenters & participants in the 2019 
Induction Day program and training. 
Volunteer Forums & Celebration 
afternoon teas have been held with 
strong attendance over the year.   

The HHS Reward & Recognition 
Program includes Volunteers who were 
nominated for Hepburn Health Annual 
Awards.  3 Volunteers received awards 
for 2018 Achievements to HHS. 

New biography program Volunteers 
trained in the collation and production 
of the HHS residents’.  Four more 
Volunteer Biographers trained and 
Biography work in Aged Care has 
commenced.   

To June 2019 – almost 13780 hours 
have been contributed by HHS 
volunteers in this financial year.  
Equivalent of over $410,000 ($30 ph) or 
in excess of $480,000 in social impact to 
the communities of the Hepburn Shire. 
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcome 

Bullying and harassment 

Actively promote positive workplace behaviours 
and encourage reporting. Utilise staff surveys, 
incident reporting data, outcomes of 
investigations and claims to regularly monitor 
and identify risks related to bullying and 
harassment, in particular include as a regular 
item in Board and Executive meetings. 
Appropriately investigate all reports of bullying 
and harassment and ensure there is a feedback 
mechanism to staff involved and the broader 
health service staff. 

By June 2019 95% of staff will have 
participated in Respect @ Hepburn 
Health and reported increased skills 
and confidence to seek support/take 
action if they experience/witness 
negative workforce behaviour (Staff 
participation rate at June 2018 was 
65%). 

By June 2019 Hepburn Health Service 
will have maintained 97% staff 
completion rate of the online Bullying 
and Harassment module. 

By September 2019 utilise our results 
from the People Matter Survey to 
inform an annual improvement plan 
to strengthen our approach to 
prevent, monitor and respond to 
alleged bullying and harassment. 

98% of new staff has participated in 
the Respect @ Hepburn Health 
program, and 63% of all staff has 
participated in the refresher 
program.  The program now 
incorporates the Worksafe and DHHS 
‘Know Better Be Better’ campaign. 

97% of staff have completed the 
online Bullying & Harassment training 
module and 91% of managers have 
completed their module. 

Action plans were developed across 
HHS.   
A working Group with the support of 
Xchanging (Workers compensation 
Victoria) to address psychological 
Health and feedback session was 
convened as well as a presentation to 
the Leadership Forum. 
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcome 

Occupational violence 

Ensure all staff who have contact with patients 
and visitors have undertaken core occupational 
violence training, annually. Ensure the 
department’s occupational violence and 
aggression training principles are implemented. 

Continue to work with the regional 
Occupation and Health Committee to 
develop a sustainable regional 
occupational violence training that 
can be flexible and adaptable to meet 
the needs of rural health services. 

 Management Of Clinical Aggression 
(MOCA) training attendance is 
currently 66%.  HHS has 3 new 
facilitators and campus champions 
from participating in the regional 
train-the-trainer program. 

By June 2019 deliver and evaluate the 
health service’s Strengthening Hospital 
Responses to Family Violence project. 

The Health Service’s strategic plan has 
been reviewed and rolled out at HHS 
for the next 3 years – which includes 
objectives to embed the Strengthening 
Hospitals Response to Family Violence 
initiative along with occupational 
Violence and Community Engagement. 

HHS continues to engage the Victorian 
Equal Opportunity and Human Rights 
Commission to deliver training to our 
network of Contact Officers.  

4 Hepburn Health Services employees 
attend SHRFV ‘Train the Trainer 
Sessions’ – building Organisational 
capability.  Training for employees has 
occurred across all Campuses.   
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcome 

Environmental Sustainability 

Actively contribute to the development of the 
Victorian Government’s: 

• policy to be net zero carbon by 2050 and
improve environmental

• sustainability by identifying and
implementing projects, including

• workforce education, to reduce material
environmental impacts with

• particular consideration of procurement and
waste management, and

• publicly reporting environmental
performance data, including

• measureable targets related to reduction of
clinical, sharps and landfill

•waste, water and energy use and improved

recycling.

By June 2019 install 99kw solar panels 
on Daylesford Hospital to offset our 
carbon footprint. 

Ensure green principles are embedded 
in all aspects of the Creswick 
redevelopment project such as in tender 
specifications and associated contractual 
agreements. 
By June 2019 replace 90% of lighting 
with LED globes. 

Solar panels are currently delayed 
due to HPV tendering process. 

All new light fitting replacements 
are LED & any maintenance to lights 
are replaced with LED’s. 

Creswick re-development provides 
best practice amenity but marries 
the dementia specific brief 
requirements with the creation of a 
lower energy use and lower impact 
facility.  These initiatives include: 

CONTROLLED NATURAL LIGHT TO ALL 
SPACES 

Every bedroom and living space has 
dim-able artificial lighting and two 
levels of window furnishing in each 
of these spaces allows for the 
amount of light to be highly 
controlled. This means that the 
quantity of artificial light and 
therefore energy usage is 
significantly reduced.  

MAXIMISE CONTROL WITH AN 
ENCOURAGEMENT TO REDUCE USAGE 

Each space will be zoned with its 
own standalone air conditioning 
system only used where and when it 
is needed. In the central nurses 
station energy usage can be 
centrally monitored and controlled, 
ensuring comfort and minimising 
power wastage.  
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcome 

CROSS VENTILATION 

By introducing a central courtyard also 
creates the potential for cross 
ventilation during the temperate times 
of the year.  

GREEN SPACE 

The landscaping will reduce the 
thermal exposure of the building 
facade to often extreme sunshine. 
These spaces themselves will be 
watered by water runoff from the 
roof.  

RETRO FIT AND RE-USE 

Working with engineering we have 
retained as much of what was 
originally there as possible. 70% of 
lighting has now been replaced. 
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Outcome 

LGBTI 

Develop and promulgate service level policies 
and protocols, in partnership with LGBTI 
communities, to avoid discrimination against 
LGBTI patients, ensure appropriate data 
collection, and actively promote rights to free 
expression of gender and sexuality in healthcare 
settings 

By 30 June 2019 submit a Diversity 
Action Plan (embedding LGBTI inclusive 
practice) to the department and its 
approach to fully implement the plan by 
30 June 2020 

LGBTI inclusive practice is a key 
deliverable of the HHS Diversity Plan 
2018-2019. Preparation for Rainbow 
Tick re-accreditation of aged care 
services and new accreditation across 
the whole of HHS has been a primary 
focus of this deliverable. Milestones to 
date: 

 Review of HHS policies and

procedures with relevance to LGBTI

inclusive practice have been, or are

in the process of, review;

 Recruitment drive for the LGBTI

Advisory Committee has resulted in

two new members;

 Development of an updated

Learning Package for all staff, and

an implementation strategy

including small group discussions is

in place;

 Commencement of review and

updating of relevant consumer

information;
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Hepburn Health had an accreditation 
visit by the Rainbow Tick accreditors 
and gained full accreditation for the 
whole Organisation across the six 
Rainbow Tick Standards and the above 
targeted consumer outcomes through 
the Diversity Plan outlined activity: 

 Adopting systemic approaches to

planning and implementation

 Supporting a proactive and flexible

system

 Respectful and inclusive services

 Accessible care and support

 Making informed choices

Meeting the needs of the most

vulnerable
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Part B: Performance Priorities 
Key performance indicator Target Result 

Accreditation 

Accreditation against the National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards Full compliance Achieved 

Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care Accreditation Standards Full compliance Not Achieved* 

Infection prevention and control 

Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia program 80% 89.4% 

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza 80% 83% 

Patient experience 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - data submission Full compliance Achieved 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of positive patient experience responses – Quarter 1 95% positive experience Full Compliance* 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of positive patient experience responses – Quarter 2 95% positive experience 100% 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of positive patient experience responses – Quarter 3 95% positive experience 96.7% 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of very positive responses to questions on discharge care - 
Quarter 1 

75% very positive experience Full Compliance* 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of very positive responses to questions on discharge care - 
Quarter 2 

75% very positive experience 95% 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  percentage of very positive responses to questions on discharge care - 
Quarter 3 

75% very positive experience 94.5% 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  patients perception of cleanliness – Quarter 1 70% Full Compliance* 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  patients perception of cleanliness – Quarter 2 70% 97.8% 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey –  patients perception of cleanliness – Quarter 3 70% 99.4% 

* Less than 42 responses were received for the period due to the relative size of the Health Service

Key performance indicator Target Result 

Adverse events 

Sentinel events – root cause analysis (RCA) reporting 
All RCA reports submitted within 30 business days 

Achieved 

* Hepburn Health Service received a ‘not met’ finding following an accreditation assessment visit to our Daylesford site in Quarter 3 2018-19. Hepburn Health Service were able to rectify the issue to the accreditation agency’s satisfaction 
and has maintained continuous accreditation across all sites
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Strong governance, leadership and culture 
Key performance indicator Target Result 

Organisational culture  

People matter survey - percentage of staff with an overall positive response to safety and culture questions 
 

80% 91% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “I am encouraged by my colleagues to report 
any patient safety concerns I may have” 

80% 97% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “Patient care errors are handled appropriately 
in my work area” 

80% 96% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “My suggestions about patient safety would be 
acted upon if I expressed them to my manager” 

80% 94% 

 People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “The culture in my work area makes it easy to 
learn from the errors of others” 

80% 89% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “Management is driving us to be a safety-
centred organisation” 

80% 93% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “This health service does a good job of training 
new and existing staff” 

80% 80% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “Trainees in my discipline are adequately 
supervised” 

80% 85% 

People matter survey – percentage of staff with a positive response to the question, “I would recommend a friend or relative to be 
treated as a patient here” 

80% 90% 

Effective financial management 
Key performance indicator  Target Result 

Finance 

Operating result ($m) 0.00 0.117 

Average number of days to paying trade creditors 60 days 35 days 

Average number of days to receiving patient fee debtors 60 days 36 days 

Adjusted current asset ratio  0.7 or 3% improvement from 
health service base target 

0.94 

Number of days of available cash 14 days 1 day 

Actual number of days a health service can maintain its operations with unrestricted available cash, measured on the last 

day of each month. 

14 days 1 day 

Measures the accuracy of forecasting the Net results from the transactions (NRFT) for the current financial year ending 30 

June.  

Variance < $250,000 $1,200,000 
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Part C: Activity & Funding 

Funding type 2018-19 Activity achievement  Units 
Small Rural   
Small Rural Acute   773 

Small Rural Primary Health & HACC   

- Initial Needs Identification  Service hours 357 

- Nursing  Service hours  332 

- Counselling/Casework  Service hours  1125 

- Dietetics  Service hours  211 

- Occupational Therapy  Service hours  20 

- Physiotherapy  Service hours  820 

- Podiatry  Service hours  787 

- Speech Therapy  Service hours  233 

Small Rural Residential Care   31,409 

Health Workforce  6 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE  
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OUR LEADERSHIP 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
The Hepburn Health Board of Directors is appointed by the Governor in Council on the recommendation of the 

Minister for Health. The Board is responsible for setting the strategic directions of Hepburn Health within the 

framework of government policy. The Board is responsible for the clinical and corporate governance of Hepburn Health 

and establishing policies. They are accountable to government & stakeholders to ensure corporate governance 

between compliance and oversight of operational and financial performance. The Board are responsible for the 

delivery of care is of the highest quality, meeting the needs of the communities they serve. 

 

Mr Phillip Thomson (Chair)   

MBA, Grad Dip Proj Mgt, BA Bus (Prop), GAICD 

Appointed 01.07.14, Current Term 01.07.14 – 30.06.19  

Ms Lesley Hewitt (Deputy Chair)  

MSW, B.Soc.Wk (Hons), B.Sc, Grad. Cert. Teaching & Learning 

Appointed 01.07.1 4, Current Term 01.07.14 – 30.06.19 

Cr Kate Redwood AM  

MBS, BSW Hons, BA  

Appointed 27.06.16, Current Term 27.06.16 – 30.06.19  

Mr Craig Mutton 

Appointed 25.07.16, Current Term 25.07.16 – 30.06.19 

Ms Katrina Lai  

Appointed 25.07.16, Current Term 25.07.16 – 30.06.19 

Prof Jeffrey Zajac 

Appointed 27.03.17, Current Term 27.03.17 – 30.06.19 

Prof Andrea Driscoll  

Appointed 27.03.17, Current Term 27.03.17 – 30.06.19  

Ms Sue Craven  

Appointed 27.03.17, Current Term 27.06.17 – 30.06.19  

Mr Stephen Millard 

Appointed 27.10.17, Current Term 27.10.17 – 30.06.19 

  

BOARD COMMITTEES  
The following committees support the function of the Board of Directors: 

NOMINATION & REMUNERATION 
The Nomination & Remuneration Committee provides assistance to the Board to oversee the remuneration paid to 

the Chief Executive Officer and employees.  The committee makes new appointees to the Minster and Governor in 

Council. 

Board: Katrina Lai & Phillip Thompson  

Attendees: Susan Craven 

 
 

 

Pictured top: 

PT (Chair) 

L to R 

1st row: LH (Deputy Chair), 

AD, CM 

2nd row: SM, KL, SC 

Bottom: JZ, KR 
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AUDIT & RISK 
The Audit and Risk committee is responsible for the operation of the financial risk management framework of Hepburn 

Health.  The committee oversee the risk management framework, the performance and independence of the internal 

and external audits, and the effectiveness of management. 

Board: Craig Mutton (Chair), Kate Redwood, Steve Millard 

Attendees: Maree Cuddihy (Chief Executive Officer), Phillip Thompson (Board Chair), Brenda Rooney (Chief Financial 

Officer), Michelle Oliver, Darlene Urban (Finance Manager), Sarah Denning (Secretary) 07/2018 to 04/2019,  

Casey Fletcher (Secretary) 05/2019 - current. 

 

CLINICAL GOVERNANCE  
The Clinical Governance Committee acts to ensure that clinical governance framework and systems are in place within 

Hepburn Health for the effectiveness of all clinical services. The committee is in place to monitor and improve quality 

and safety and to deliver high quality care.  

Board: Jeffery Zajac (Chair), Sue Craven, Andrea Driscoll 

Attendees: Maree Cuddihy (Chief Executive Officer), Barbara Harrison, Michelle Oliver, Kirrily Hartnell (Visiting 

Medical Officer), Anand Poniraivan, Elise Ackers (Secretary) 07/2018 to 04/2019, Jessica Kop (Secretary) 05/2019 – 

current. 

 

CLINICAL CREDENTIALING 
The Clinical Credentialing Committee is responsible to ensure health professionals at Hepburn Health are credentialed 

with a defined scope of practice. Dentist & Medical practitioners are to support safe and high quality health care to 

patients. All credentialing applications endorsed at this committee are approved by the Clinical Governance 

Committee. 

Board: Jeffery Zajac (Chair) 

Attendees: Maree Cuddihy (Chief Executive Officer), Anand Poniraivan, Kirrily Hartnell (Visiting Medical Officer), 

Sarah Denning (Secretary) 08/2018, Kristy Mutsaers (Secretary) 01/2019, Emily Tyrrell (Secretary) 05/2019. 

 

FUNDRAISING 
This committee is responsible for the fundraising strategies and actions to develop community relationships and advise 

the Board and Senior Leadership Team on fundraising activity and initiatives, and make recommendations on 

fundraising projects. 

Board: Kate Redwood (Chair), Lesley Hewitt, Sue Craven. 

Attendees: Maree Cuddihy (Chief Executive Officer), Narelle McBride, Peter McConvill, Elise Ackers (Secretariat)  

07/2018 to 03/2019, Jessica Kop (Secretariat) 05/2019 to 06/2019. 

 

COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
The Community Advisory Committee is a high-level advisory committee appointed by the Board to advance 

consumer, carer and community perspectives in Hepburn Health Service. The role of the Community Advisory 

Committee is to provide direction and leadership on the integration of consumer, carer and community views into 

Hepburn Health Service’s operations, service delivery, planning and policy development.  

Board: Susan Craven (Chair), Lesley Hewitt, Kate Redwood.  

Attendees: Maree Cuddihy, Phil Catterson,  Bill Weidner, Charles Sherlock, Licia Kokocinski, Luigi Soccio, Malcolm 

Hull, Margaret Hodge, Peter Hanrahan. 
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SENIOR LEADERSHIP  
 

The Senior Leadership team at Hepburn Health, 

provide high level management of the organisation 

on a day to day basis. They are accountable to the 

Chief Executive Officer for the performance, 

implementation of decisions and outcomes of their 

business unit and management team. Hepburn 

Health’s core values of care, respect, integrity and 

creativity are built around our culture and the Senior 

Leadership team are charged with leading by 

example and fostering a positive workplace culture. 

Our Senior Leadership team comprise of the 

following members: 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICE (CEO) 

 Maree Cuddihy, CEO 04/2017 – current  

The CEO reports to the Board of Directors and is 

responsible for being the decision maker on strategy 

and other key policy issues, leader, manager, and 

executor at Hepburn Health.  

DIRECTOR OF MEDICAL SERVICES (DMS) 

 Dr Anand Ponniraivan, 01/2018 – Current  

The DMS is responsible for the support of executive 

management and leadership in the provision of 

clinical and other services. The DMS is responsible to 

the Board of Directors, through the CEO, for the 

medical administration of HHS, leadership of medical 

staff, oversees credentialing of Visiting Medical 

Officers and is responsible for implementation of 

clinical governance as approved by the Board. 

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER (CFO)  

 Angela Morrison, 12/2016 – 06/2018 

 Brenda Rooney, 08/2018 – current  

The primary responsibility of the CFO is managing 

the company’s finance, including financial planning, 

management of the financial risks, record-keeping, 

and financial reporting at HHS. The facilitation of 

strategic planning at a corporate level through  

 

 

 

 

business leadership, business management and 

performance management. Hotel Services, 

Procurement, Management & Technology, and 

Engineering & Fleet form part of the CFO’s business 

unit at HHS.  

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER (COO) 

 Phil Catterson, 12/2018 – current 

The COO is instrumental in integrating HHS vision 

into an actionable plan for success. The COO 

manages the day-to-day administration and 

operation of the business. The role encompasses the 

design and implementing of business operations, 

supports the CEO, in addition to the executive 

management and performance of the Integrated 

Primary Care service. 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR PEOPLE, CULTURE & 

DEVELOPMENT (EDPCD) 

 Narelle McBride, 11/2016 – current 

The EDPCD of HHS is focused on our people’s 

development, enabling excellent performance, 

leadership development, mentoring and support. 

The role is responsible for operational support 

services such as, employees (including volunteers), 

manages the Human Resources, Occupational 

Health & Safety, Workforce planning, Grants, 

Fundraising and Communications, Education, and 

Industrial and Employee Relations teams.  

INTERIM CHIEF NURSING OFFICER (ICNO) 

Barbara Harrison, 12/2017 – 04/2019 

Phil Catterson, 04/2019 - current 

At HHS the ICNO is responsible for the delivery of 

clinical and community services. The role has the 

responsibility for vision and direction for nursing 

throughout HHS. The role manages, Integrated 

Community Care, and Acute and Residential Aged 

Care services delivered at Clues, Creswick, 

Daylesford and Trentham campuses. 
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SENIOR STAFF (as at 30 June 2019) 

OFFICE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE        

Elise Ackers, Executive Assistant to CEO 07/2018– 04/2019 

Jessica Kop, Executive Assistant to CEO- current  

Michelle Oliver, Manager Quality & Safety Systems  
 
 

BUSINESS SERVICES & SUPPORT 

Darlene Urban, Finance Manager 

David Hoey, Manager Information Management & Technology 

Steve Latter, Infrastructure & Transport Manager 

Ryan McDonald, Trentham Hotel Services Supervisor 

Sue Huebner, Health Information Manager 

Vicki Gunsser, Daylesford Supervisor 

Wendy Vander Pol, Hotel Services Manager 
 
 

PEOPLE, CULTURE & DEVELOPMENT 
 
Janine Fleming, Volunteer Services Manager 

Josie Batchelor, OHS & Return to Work Coordinator 

Matt Francalanza, People & Culture Manager 

Leanne Brown, People Excellence Manager  
 

 

CLINICAL MANAGERS 

 

Janice Kebede, Nurse Unit Manager Aged Care 
Trentham 

Liz McLoughlin-Finn, Oral Health Coordinator 

Anne Hetherington, Nurse Unit Manager Acute 
Creswick   

Megan Ballinger, Transition Care and Home Support 
Program Coordinator 

Barb Harrison, Director of Nursing Daylesford Hospital 
& Aged Care 07/2018 -04/2019 

Melissa Murphy, Infection, Prevention & Control 
Coordinator, Nurse Unit Manager Theatre (Interim) 

Debra-Lee Holman, Director of Nursing Daylesford 
Hospital & Aged Care 05/2019 – Current 

Pam Saunders, Director of Nursing Creswick 

Brian Dunn, Mental Wellbeing Coordinator Shane Richardson, Manager Integrated Primary Care 

Debra Bevern, Nurse Unit Manager Aged Care 
Creswick  

Simone Neo, Nurse Unit Manager Acute Daylesford 
 

Elizabeth Rhook, Physical Wellbeing Coordinator  Paul Hilder, Director of Nursing Trentham Aged Care  

Sara White, Maternal & Child Health Coordinator Belinda Buck, Health Promotion Coordinator 

Gabrielle Kirby, Manager Integrated Community Aged 
Care 

Sandi Lavin, Nurse Unit Manager Aged Care Daylesford 
07/2018 – 09/2018  

Lisa Whitcher, Home Nursing & Personal Care 
Coordinator  

Richard Grinstein, Nurse Unit Manager Aged Care 
Daylesford 10/2018 – current 
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COMMUNITY REPORT 
Community is at the heart of what we do at Hepburn Health. For over 150 years our health service has been supported 

by the generosity of those who contribute their time and money, ensuring that we can best meet the health and 

wellbeing needs of our communities. 

  

 

 

 

 LIFE GOVERNORS (as at 30 June 2019)

AUXILIARY SUPPORT 
Our long-serving auxiliaries are a valuable and 

complementary part of our health service, 

raising vital funds in support of Hepburn 

Health each year. Most members have been 

volunteering their time for well over twenty 

years, with the longest serving some forty-four 

years. 

We would like to extend a sincere thank you 

to all of our auxiliary members for their 

tireless work and dedication to improving the 

quality of care for our patients and residents. 

Community Report

CRESWICK  

CARTLEDGE Sheila 

CLIFTON Norma  

GINIFER Ailsa  

HUNTLEY Beth  

LAFRANCHI Joan  

NEIL Joan  

ORR Margaret 

STUBBS Norah 

TINK Helen 

WRIGLEY Elaine 

DAYLESFORD  

BROWN Judy  

CLARK Edith  

DWYER Norma 

KIMSTRA Correen 

MALONE Irene  

PORTER Jenny  

SEELEY Jeannette  

WESTON Betty 

TRENTHAM  

BROWN Marjie 

EVANS Maree 

GILL Karen 

GROVES Wilma 

HICKEY Anita 

MANNING Kit 

MAHER Kathleen 

MCKINNON Margot 

O’CONNELL Kath 

WHITE Ruth 

TBC Julie

Life Governor Awards are presented by the Board of Directors to members of the community who have made a 

significant contribution to Hepburn Health either through voluntary service or a financial donation. This level of 

commitment is greatly appreciated and recognised. 

CLUNES 

CLARKE, Mr G L 

FAWCETT, Mr T M 

GORDON, Mr R S 

GRAY, Dr J 

JONES, Mr R E 

LO IACONO, Mr U 

QUEMARD, Mr G 

CRESWICK 

CARTLEDGE OAM, Mr N 

CLIFTON, Mrs D 

CRESWICK FIRE BRIGADE 

1ST CRESWICK VENTURERS 

DOYLE, Mrs B 

FARGHER, Mr F 

GEOFFREY, Mrs A 

GRAY, Dr J G 

HETHERINGTON, Mr W 

HORNSBY, Mr A 

KINGSTON FIRE BRIGADE 

LAFRANCHI, Mrs L 

LEISHMAN, Mrs H 

LIONS CLUB CRESWICK 

MACKINLAY, Mrs L 

MCINERNEY, Mrs M 

MCMILLAN, Mrs J 

NEIL, Mrs J 

ORR OAM, Mr R G 

ORR, Mrs M 

ROBINSON, Mr E J 

ROFE, Mr W 

SMEATON FIRE 

BRIGADE 

STONEMAN, Mr A 

TAYLOR, Mr A 

VAN OOSTVEEN, 

Mrs J 

DAYLESFORD 

BOLTON, Mr J  

BOLTON, Mr T 

CALLAHAN, Mr R 

CHAMBERLAIN, Mr N 

CHAMBERLAIN, Mrs W 

CLARK, Mr E J 

COFFEY, Mr G 

COLE, Dr B E 

COLE, Mrs N 

COLLINS, Mr N 

CRONIN, Mrs J 

EGAN, Mr J 

EGGLESTON, Mrs E 

FELL, Mr G 

FIELD, Mrs J 

HOLMES, Mr A 

HORNE, Mrs L 

ISEBL, Mr J 

JENKIN, Mr R 

JENNER, Mr R 

KROEGER, Mrs U 

MARSHALL, Mr J 

MENZ, Mrs J 

MILLAR, Miss J 

OGDEN, Mr 

OGDEN, Mrs A 

OGLETHORPE, Mr P 

ORR, Mrs L 

POSETTI, Miss J 

POWELL, Miss J 

ROBBINS, Mrs C 

RODGERS, Mr I 

ROWE, Mr M 

SCOBIE, Mr A 

SQUIRES, Mr G 

SUTHERLAND, Mr I 

TURNBULL, Mr J 

VANINA, Miss M 

WALKER, Mr J 

WALKER, Mrs J 

TRENTHAM 

CROOK, Mr B 

MAYNE, Mr J 

SLY,Mr 

SILBEREISEN, Mr W 

WESTON, Mrs B 

WRIGLEY, Mrs E 

HEPBURN HEALTH  

SERVICE 

EDGAR, Mrs M 

HULL, Mr M 

KEOGH, Mrs R 

LENEHAN, Mr D 

MCNICOL, Mrs B 

O’SHEA, Mr M 

ROBBINS, Mrs C 

ROSCHOLLER, Miss J 
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THANK YOU 

Emma Annand  Kim Barter 

Marj Bennett  Tim Blood 

Leon Cumming Peter & Annie Duncan 

Leo Gregorc  David Hall 

Lesley Hewitt  Catherine King  

Dallas Kinnear  Pepper Sindar 

Sharna Smith   Zahlia Zammit 

THANK YOU TO OUR ORGANISATION SUPPORTERS 
 All Nations Lodge

 Alcohol and Drug Foundation

 Armley Park Nursery

 Biggin & Scott Daylesford

 Coles Daylesford

 Commonwealth Bank Creswick

 Creswick & District Community Bank

 Creswick Auxiliary

 Creswick Woollen Mills

 Daylesford Auxiliary

 Daylesford & District Community Bank

 

 Daylesford CWA

 Daylesford Mens’ Shed

 Daylesford MotorFest

 Daylesford Rotary Club

 Estate of Bill Dickerson

 Freemasons Daylesford

 Freemasons Foundation Vic

 Glenlyon Sports Club

 RACV Goldfields Resort

 Trentham Auxiliary

 Trentham & District Community Bank

Philanthropic Donations 
Each year we receive generous contributions through donations, sponsorships, bequests and philanthropic grants. 

We thank the many community members and organisations who have made a donation in support of Hepburn Health 

this year. Donations are used to purchase new equipment and expand programs and services that would otherwise 

not be possible. This year we received a total of over $200,000 in monetary and in-kind contributions from 

organisations and individuals alike. A very special thank you is especially due to all our many individual donors who 

made generous gifts during the year to support our health service in delivering care to our communities. We are so 

appreciative of all our donors irrespective of whether they gifted several dollars or even tens of thousands of dollars. 
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VOLUNTEER SERVICES 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Celebrating Volunteer Services 
Joyce Roscholler volunteers with the Clunes Planned Activity Group twice a week assisting with activities and outings.  

Joyce has been volunteering for more than 40 years, originally delivering Meals on Wheels to community members in 

Clunes. 

Joyce enjoys volunteering her time with the Planned Activity Group and she is highly regarded by staff, Planned Activity 

Group clients and other volunteers.  Joyce exemplifies the HHS values through the care and respect which she 

consistently demonstrates in her interactions with the clients of the Planned Activity Group. 

Gene Hadfield, Maria Marco, Dorothy Hancock & Debbie Rauber are Volunteer Biographers in the new Beyond Words 

Volunteer Biography Program.  Trained Biographers are matched with Aged Care residents to record and transcribe 

their stories.  At the conclusion the residents are presented with two bound copies and an electronic copy of their 

Biography.  Their stories are documented for future generations and the residents gain great pleasure in telling their 

stories. Gene, Maria, Dorothy and Debbie are extremely passionate about the idea of working with residents to 

document their stories.  They model our Values of Respect, Care, Integrity and Creativity in the way that they 

approached the training, worked together and support each other.  They are looking forward to being peer mentors 

to the next intake of trainee Volunteer Biographers. 

 

 

 

 
 

As of 30 June 2019, there were 210 volunteers registered with HHS. These volunteers assist with a wide range of activities 

including: 

 Meals on Wheels 

 Auxiliaries 

 Hepburn L2P Learner Driver Mentor Program 

 Aged Care Activities, Outings and Visiting with Residents 

 Beyond Words Volunteer Biography Program 

 Social Support Outings & Planned Activity Groups 

 Volunteer Transport (for medical and related appointments) 

 Gardening 

 
  

During the 2018-2019 financial year, volunteers contributed in excess of 14,000 hours across the health service. Their          

commitment to patients and residents of HHS and community members is integral to ensuring improved health and 

wellbeing, and reducing social isolation for the people they support in their volunteer roles. 

New volunteers are always welcome. To enquire about any of the above volunteer opportunities, please contact J. 

Cawton, Volunteer Services Manager on 5321 6556 or janinec@hhs.vic.gov.au. All volunteers must undergo a 

National Police Records Check. The Hepburn L2P Program also requires volunteers to have a current Working with 

Children Check. There is no cost to the volunteer for these checks.  
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LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
 

The HHS Annual Report has been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 

1994 (the Act), Section 4.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Act and Financial Reporting 

Directions. 

 
Data Integrity 
I, Maree Cuddihy, certify that Hepburn Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 

ensure that reported data accurately reflects actual performance. Hepburn Health Service has critically reviewed these 

controls and processes during the year. 

  

Conflict of Interest 

I, Maree Cuddihy, certify that Hepburn Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 

ensure that it has complied with the requirements of hospital circular 07/2017 Compliance reporting in health portfolio 

entities (Revised) and has implemented a ‘Conflict of Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum accountabilities 

required by the VPSC.  

 

Declaration of private interest forms have been completed by all executive staff within Hepburn Health Service and 

members of the board, and all declared conflicts have been addressed and are being managed. Conflict of interest is a 

standard agenda item for declaration and documenting at each executive board meeting. 
  

Compliance with Health Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health Purchasing Policies 

I, Maree Cuddihy, certify that Hepburn Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 

ensure that it has complied with all requirements set out in the HPV Health Purchasing Policies including mandatory 

HPV collective agreements as required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic) and has critically reviewed these controls 

and processes during the year. 

 

Integrity, fraud and corruption  

I, Maree Cuddihy certify that Hepburn Health Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 

ensure that Integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been reviewed and addressed at Hepburn Health Service during 

the year. 

 

 

Maree Cuddihy  

Chief Executive Officer 

Daylesford 

6 September 2019 
 
Financial Management Compliance attestation 

I, Phillip Thomson, on behalf of the Hepburn Health Service, certify that Hepburn Health Service has complied with 
the applicable Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions.  

       

 

 

Phillip Thomson 

Board Chair, HHS Board of Directors 

Daylesford 

6 September 2019 
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BUILDING COMPLIANCE 
Hepburn Health Service ensures that all buildings, plant and equipment in its control are maintained and operated    

according to the statutory requirements of the Building Act 1993 as per Minister for Finance Guideline Building Act 

1993/Standards for Publicly Owned Buildings November 1994.  

 

Works and maintenance undertaken to ensure conformity with relevant Standards are as follows: 

Building works 

Building certified for approval        2   

Works in construction and subject of mandatory inspections   2     

Occupancy permits issued        0    

Maintenance 

Notices issued for rectification of substandard buildings requiring 

urgent attention        0     

Involving major expenditure and urgent attention    0     

Building condition assessment        0    

Essential services maintenance        5 per campus    

 

CARERS RECOGNITION ACT 
At Hepburn Health we understand the important role carers play in the life of consumers. We welcome carer participation 

and encourage our staff to recognise and promote the rights and roles of carers. 

 

COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY 
All competitive neutrality requirements are met in accordance with government costing policies for public hospitals. 
 

SAFE PATIENT CARE ACT 
Hepburn Health has no matters to report in relation to its obligations under Section 40 of the Safe Patient Care Act 2015.  
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CONSULTANCIES 

In 2018 -19 Hepburn Health engaged thirteen (13) consultants in total. Eight (8) consultants were engaged for a total 

fee payable of less than $10K, with a total expenditure of $32.8K (ex GST).  

Five (5) consultants where engaged for a total fee payable of greater than $10K. Details of the consultant engaged and 

the purpose of the consultancy is outlined in the table below: 

Consultant Purpose of Consultancy Total 
Approved 
Project Fee 

Expenditure 
(Exc GST) 

Kyneton District Health Service Share of Amalgamation Consultation costs 25,738.24 25,738.24 

ACFI Exec Services Advice on ACFI classification and documentation 12,645.00 12,645.00 

Beige Pureau PR Amalgamation Consultation Sessions 19,000.00 19,000.00 

Accounting and Audit Solutions 
Bendigo 

Amalgamation financial due diligence review 
12,440.00 12,440.00 

Stone axe Pty Ltd Amalgamation Consultation costs 17,272.73 17,272.73 

Total 87,095.97 87,095.97 

Summary of Financial Results 

2019 

$000 

2018 

$000 

2017 

$000 

2016 

$000 

2015 

$000 

 Operating Results 117 168 198 (1,645) (7) 

– Total revenue 31,515 28,429 27,027 25,225 25,812 

– Total expenses 31,963 29,526 28,756 28,938 28,039 

– Net result from transactions (448) (1,097) (1,729) (3,713) (2,227) 

– Total other economic flows (198) 27 124 - (25) 

– Net result (646) (1,070) (1,605) (3,713) (2,252) 

– Total assets 57,827 41,712 41,606 42,015 42,626 

– Total liabilities 15,582 13,670 13,095 12,367 9,268 

– Net assets/Total equity 42,245 28,042 28,511 29,648 33,358 

* The Operating result is the result for which the health service is monitored in its Statement of Priorities
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Reconciliation between the Net result from transactions reported in the financial statements to the Operating result as 

agreed in the Statement of Priorities 

            

 

 
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

 
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Net operating result * 117 168 198 (1,645) (7) 

Capital and specific items 

Capital purpose income 1,856 1,084 467 412 - 
Expenditure for capital purpose (153) (86) (74) - - 

Depreciation and amortisation (2,268) (2,263) (2,320) (2,480) (2,220) 

 
Net result from transactions (448) (1,097) (1,729) (3,713) (2,227) 

 

 

* The Net operating result is the result which the health service is monitored against in its Statement of Priorities 
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EMPLOYMENT & CONDUCT PRINCIPLES 
Hepburn Health is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate against employees, volunteers and 

potential employees on the basis of race or skin colour, gender identity, sexual orientation, intersex status, age, 

physical or mental disability, marital status, family or carer’s responsibility, pregnancy, religion or political opinion, 

national extraction or social origin or any factor that may be warranted as discriminatory. We are committed to 

providing a workplace free of discrimination and harassment and abide by the principles outlined in the Victorian 

Public Administration Act 2004. As a values based organisation, our workforce is expected to demonstrate these values 

in interactions with each other, consumers, and the community. Expected behaviours are outlined in the Hepburn 

Health Behavioural Competency Framework. 
  

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE 
Hepburn Health is committed to meeting its objective of best practice in sustainability and resource management. We 

regularly monitor our energy and other resource consumption for usage changes and to reduce our carbon footprint. 

We actively endeavour to provide energy efficient initiatives, incorporating green principles across our locations that 

will enable lower energy use and lower impact facility. 

Our initiatives: 

 Replacement of all light fittings with LED and further maintenance will be replaced with LED 

 Retaining original materials wherever possible during refurbishment  

 Installing standalone air-conditioning systems in each space where required, with the energy use centrally 

monitored and controlled to avoid power wastage 

 Installation of Solar Panels  

 

INFORMATION COMMUNICATIONS & TECHNOLOGY (ICT)  
The 2018-19 Financial Year was a year where Cybersecurity became the main focus with major projects commencing that 

required a review of all sites infrastructure and capacity to house new security equipment. New Racks were procured and installed 

in Creswick Hospital and Aged Care whilst space was consolidated at other sites. New hardware firewalls were installed at each 

site as part of the new Clinical Grade WAN project which also saw the termination of new WAN links into all sites ready for cutover 

in quarter 3 of 2019. CGWAN guidelines also required the provision of new NBN links at all sites which have been procured through 

Telstra (diverse path) under a TPAMS pricing contract 

New Dell edge switches were rolled out to all sites to replacing end of life equipment where required.  

Rollout of phones and desktops was completed using stage 4 funds from the RHIF grant with the remainder of the funding used 

to procure Video Conferencing and telehealth equipment as per the original agreement.  

Mobile phones were moved onto a TPAMS contract with Optus which provided cost savings through government pricing whilst 

also providing access to an innovation fund that enabled HHS to upgrade its entire fleet of mobile phones at minimum cost. 

Stage One of a new mobility framework initiative saw the rollout of new tablets providing executives, some managers and mobile 

staff with the ability to work more efficiently when offsite.  

Renovation works in IPC saw IMT procure a new rack to physically segregate HHS networking equipment from CAFS equipment 

and also to ensure that HHS equipment is housed in a physically secure fit for purpose environment. 

New I-Care tablets were procured and rolled out to Daylesford, Creswick and Clunes. These replaced the old devices that were at 

end of life with no option to extend the warranty.  
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DISCLOSURE OF ICT EXPENDITURE ($ million) 
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2018–19 is $1.43 million (excluding GST) with the details shown 

below: 

Business As Usual (BAU) ICT 
expenditure  

Non-Business As Usual (non-BAU) ICT expenditure  

Total 
(excluding GST) 

Total=Operational 
expenditure and Capital 
Expenditure 
(excluding GST) (a) + (b) 

 

Operational expenditure 
(excluding GST) (a) 
 
 
 
 

 

Capital expenditure 
(excluding GST) (b) 
 
 
 
 

$1.33 million $0.10 million $0  million $0.10 million 

 

 

INFORMATION PRIVACY 
Hepburn Health is bound by the Health Records Act 

2001 and the Information Privacy Act 2000 with 

relation to the personal health information of 

consumers. 

We have in place policies and procedures to ensure such     

information remains confidential and secure and will 

only be used by non-service staff with the consent of 

the consumer and is accessible by the consumer under 

the Freedom of    Information Act 1982. 

Consumers are informed of their rights regarding their 

health information on first contact with the Health 

Service. The Manager Health Information is the 

designated Privacy Officer and manages all enquiries. 

Protected Disclosure Act 
Hepburn Health takes very seriously all allegations of 

improper conduct by its employees or the Board of 

Directors. The  Protected Disclosure Act 2012 is designed 

to protect people who disclose information about 

serious misconduct within the Victorian Public Sector  

 

 

 

and to provide a framework for  investigation into these 

matters. Disclosures of improper conduct by Hepburn 

Health Service or its employees may be made to: 

 

Chief Executive Officer 

Tel: 5321 6500, Email: info@hhs.vic.gov.au or 

The Ombudsman Victoria 

Level 22, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne, 3000 

Tel: 9613 6222 Toll free: 1800 806 314 

Hepburn Health Service considers Protected Disclosure 

within the context of its Code of Conduct. There have 

been no disclosures from July 1, 2018– June 30, 2019. 
  

Ex-Gratia Payments 
No ex-gratia payments were made in 2018-19. 
   

Freedom of Information 
Hepburn Health is subject to the Freedom of Information 

Act 1982. Our nominated Principal Officer is the Chief 

Executive Officer. From July 1 2018–June 30, 2019 we 

received 10 requests for information under the Act; 2 

personal and 8 for non-personal purposes.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY 
 

Hepburn Health is committed to providing a safe work 

environment for all members of the workforce, 

volunteers, contractors and the public.  Hepburn 

Health allocates resources to the management of 

Occupational Health and Safety by implementing a 

‘Safety First’ approach.   Hepburn Health complies with 

the Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) Act 2004 

and the Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) 

Regulations 2017 and all relevant standards and codes 

of practice.   

The Safety and Return to Work Coordinator attends all 

site Health, Safety & Environment meetings. The Safety 

and Return to Work Coordinator works closely with the 

People and Culture Manager and the 

Executive Director People, Culture & Development in 

Return to Work and Workers Compensation matters to 

ensure positive outcomes for all stakeholders. 

Consultation with staff and discussion of site and 

department specific safety matters occurs through the 

Site Health, Safety and Environment Reference Groups 

held bi-monthly, with an Organisational Health and 

Safety Committee being established in 2019 to further 

elevate OH&S issues and develop a organisational 

strategic approach to OH&S. The Safety and Return to 

Work Coordinator regularly attends each campus to 

discuss and manage safety issues that arise.  Where  

 

 

 

 

relevant all Designated Work Groups have an 

appointed Health and Safety Representative (HSR) who 

assist staff in raising occupational health and safety 

(OH&S) concerns, attends Site Health, Safety and 

Environment Reference Group meetings and works 

with managers and the Safety Coordinator to monitor 

and improve the safety of work-places. 

Two WorkCover claims were submitted for the 

financial year; one WorkCover matter continues to be 

managed, and there was one notifiable incident within 

the financial year.  

Hepburn Health has worked immensely hard over the 

past 12 months to reduce incidents of Occupational 

Violence and Aggression, reporting of incidents and 

injury management.  In November 2018 HHS further 

invested in OH&S with the appointment of a Safe 

Manual Handling Co-ordinator to assist in the 

development and training of manual handling for all 

HHS workforce members. 

Hepburn Health continues to improve our 

organisational approach to safety which is reflective in 

the reduction of extensive lost time incidents, an 

increase in hazard reporting and a reduction in total 

injury frequency rates. 

The Lost Time Injury frequency rate is currently 26.47 

and the Workers Compensation claim frequency rate is 

currently 5.29.   

  



Hepburn Health Service Report of Operations 2018‐19 

45 
 

 

 OCCUPATIONAL VIOLENCE  

 
Occupational Violence Statistics 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 

Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause per 100 FTE 0 0 0 
Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time injury with an occupational violence cause 

per 1,000,000 hours worked 
0 0 0 

Number of occupational violence incidents report 36 39 17 
Number of occupational violence incidents report per 100 FTE 15.9 20.63 8.54 
Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness or condition 5.55% 10.26% 17.64% 
FTE 194 185.1 199 

    

Occupational Health and Safety (FRD 22H 5.10) 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 

Number of Incidents / Hazards  138 105 
The number of reported hazards/incidents for the year per 100 FTE staff members 0.00 74.55 52.76 
Number of Lost Time Standard Claims  4 10 
The number of 'lost time' standard claims for the year per 100 FTE staff members 0.00 2.16 5.03 
The average cost per claim for the year (including payments to date and an estimate of outstanding claim costs as advised by 

WorkSafe) 
 

A minimum two prior years data on these indicators and explanations for significant variations from one year to 

the next; and 
  

In the event of a fatality, a discussion of the circumstances that led to the fatality and the preventive measure that have been taken to prevent 

recurrence. If the fatality is under investigation or subject to an inquiry, a statement to that effect shall be included 
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PUBLICATIONS 
Hepburn Health produces a number of publications for 

the community in order to provide a better 

understanding of our services and programs. They 

include the Annual Report, Quality Account, and a 

range of patient information brochures. Copies are 

available at all of our sites and are also available online 

at www.hhs.vic.gov.au.  
  

REGISTRATION 
All practitioners engaged by the Health Service 

maintained their registered status throughout the 

year. 
  

LOCAL JOBS ACT 2003  
Hepburn Health complies with the requirements of 

the Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003, 

which encourages local industry participation in 

supplies, taking into account the value for money 

principle and transparent tendering process.  

 

WORKFORCE BY LABOUR CATEGORY 

Labour Category 

 

June 

FTE 

Average 

Monthly FTE 

 

 

2018 2019 2018 2019  

Nursing 105.4 103.4 103.4 98.9  

Administration & Clerical 46.9 47.4 50.4 42.1  

Medical Support 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  

Hotel and Allied Services 57.4 56.7 54.4 53.7  

Medical Officers 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.4  

Hospital Medical Officers 0.3 0.0 0.2 0.0  

Sessional Clinicians 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 18.0 24.2 17.1 21.9  

Total 228.3 232.1 225.6 217.0  

WORKFORCE BY EMPLOYMENT STATUS 

 
2017-2018 2018-2019 

Full-time 42 36 

Part-time 235 220 

Casual 95 92 

Total 372 350 

 

INFORMATION AVAILABLE ON REQUEST 

Consistent with FRD 22H (Section 5.19), details in 
respect of the items listed below have been retained 
by Hepburn Health Service and are available to the 
relevant Ministers, Members of Parliament and the 
public on request (subject to the freedom of 
information requirements, if applicable): 
a) Declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly 

completed by all relevant officers; 

b) Details of shares held by senior officers as nominee 

or held beneficially; 

c) Details of publications produced by the entity about 

itself, and how these can be obtained; 

d) Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 

levies charged by the Health Service; 

e) Details of any major external reviews carried out on 

the Health Service; 

f) Details of major research and development activities 

undertaken by the Health Service that are not 

otherwise covered either in the report of operations 

or in a document that contains the financial 

statements and report of operations; 

g) Details of overseas visits undertaken including a 

summary of the objectives and outcomes of each 

visit; 

h) Details of major promotional, public relations and 

marketing activities undertaken by the Health 

Service to develop community awareness of the 

Health Service and its services; 

i) Details of assessments and measures undertaken to 

improve the occupational health and safety of 

employees; 

j) General statement on industrial relations within the 

Health Service and details of time lost through 

industrial accidents and disputes, which is not 

otherwise detailed in the report of operations;  

k) A list of major committees sponsored by the Health 

Service, the purposes of each committee and the    

extent to which those purposes have been achieved; 

l) Details of all consultancies and contractors including 

consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, 

and expenditure committed for each engagement. 
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DISCLOSURE INDEX 
The Annual Report of Hepburn Health Service is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation. This 

index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure 

requirements.  

Legislation  Requirement  Page 

Ministerial Directions  

Charter and purpose   

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the         

relevant Ministers  

3 

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties  5 

FRD 22H Initiatives and key achievements  10 

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided  7 

Management and structure   

FRD 22H Organisational structure  30 

Financial and other information   

FRD 22H Application and operation of Protected  

Disclosure 2012  

43 

FRD 22H Application and operation of Carers    

Recognition Act 2012  

39 

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of 

Information Act 1982 

43 

FRD 22H Compliance with building and        

maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 

39 

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 40 

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 40 

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 42 

FRD 22H Information and Communication            

Technology Expenditure 

42 

FRD 22H  Major changes or factors affecting           

performance 

10 

FRD 22H Occupational Violence 45 

FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives and 

performance against objectives 

40 

FRD 22H Reporting of office‐based                   

environmental impacts  

46 

FRD 22H  Significant changes in financial position 

during the year 

40 

FRD 22H Statement on National Competition Policy  39 

FRD 22H Subsequent events  FR 
 

 

Legislation  Requirement  Page 

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the 

year  

40 

FRD 22H  Additional information available on  

request  

46 

FRD 22H  Workforce Data Disclosures including a 

statement on the application of           

employment and conduct principles  

46  

FRD 25D  Local Jobs First Act disclosures 46 

SD 5.2.3  Declaration in report of operations 

                                          Inside Front Cover 

FR 

SD 5.1.4  Financial Management Compliance 38 

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2   

SD 5.2.2  Declaration in financial statements  FR 

SD 5.2.1(a)  Compliance with Australian accounting 

standards and other authoritative            

pronouncements  

FR 

SD 5.2.1(a)  Compliance with Ministerial Directions  FR 

Legislation    

Freedom of Information Act 1982   43 

Protected Disclosure Act 2012   43 

Carers Recognition Act 2012   39 

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003   46 

Building Act 1993   39 

Financial Management Act 1994   43 

Safe Patient Care Act 2015  39 

Non Statutory Obligations    

Reporting of compliance Health Purchasing Victoria policy   38 

Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 

2015   

39 

Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 2018-

19  

12 

 

 

 



Hepburn Health Service Report of Operations 2018‐19 

48 
 

 
SUPPORTING HEPBURN HEALTH
Donations to Hepburn Health enable us to expand our 
programs, build new infrastructure, and purchase latest medical 
equipment beyond what government funding can provide. 

There are many different ways you can support Hepburn Health 

in delivering care to your community. To discuss any of the below 

options, contact the Manager Fundraising, Events & Marketing on 

(03) 5321 6542 or email giving@hhs.vic.gov.au 

MAKE A DONATION 
Donations can be made to a   particular department or to the 

area of greatest need. To make a donation, please complete 

the form below and return to: 

Manager Fundraising, Events & Marketing 

PO Box 465 DAYLESFORD VIC 3460 

Alternatively you can also donate online at:  

www.givenow.com.au/hepburnhealth 

If you wish to discuss the intended use of your donation, 

please call (03) 5321 6542 

TRIBUTE GIFTS 
A gift in-memory of a loved one or in-celebration of a special 

occasion such as a birthday or anniversary is a meaningful 

way in which you can support Hepburn Health. We can   

arrange for special donation forms to be made available for 

the funeral, or special event, so your friends and family can 

also make a donation in lieu of gifts or flowers. 

LEAVE A BEQUEST 
Your generosity and foresight in leaving a bequest will 

provide for those in your community well beyond your own 

lifetime. A gift in your will will provide for future generations 

through supporting new programs and services, purchasing 

new medical equipment and technologies, developing the 

skills of our workforce through educational scholarships, and 

funding new capital developments. 

FUNDRAISE FOR US 
Fundraising for Hepburn Health is a fun and rewarding way 

that you can help to improve services in your local community. 

From holding a cake stall, to participating in a fun run, to 

hosting your own event, the possibilities are endless. You 

can choose to fundraise towards a particular area or piece of 

equipment. Before you start fundraising you will need to 

apply for a special ‘Authority to Fundraise’ that sets out our 

terms and conditions. 

PARTNER WITH US 
Our profile and reputation presents unique opportunities for 

local business and organisations to partner with us in delivering 

exceptional healthcare to our communities. Support may 

include cash donations, event sponsorship, point-of-sale 

collection tins, workplace giving, or gifts-in-kind.  

 Send completed donation form to: 

Name* Manager Fundraising 

 PO Box 465 

Organisation (if donations is from an organisation) DAYLESFORD VIC 3460 

  

address OR scan form and email to: 

 giving@hhs.vic.gov.au 

suburb/town                                      state                                     p/code  

 Contact us: 

phone P: (03) 5321 6542 

 E: giving@hhs.vic.gov.au 

Email                                                             *required for receipting W: www.hhs.vic.gov.au 

PLEASE ACCEPT MY GIFT OF:  $ 
Alternatively, you can donate online at 

www.givenow.com.au/hepburnhealth 

 I enclose my cheque/money order (payable to Hepburn Health Service) Please send me information on: 

OR please debit my MasterCard  Visa  Leaving a bequest or gift in my will 

Please direct my donation to:  Fundraising for Hepburn Health 

 Clunes  Creswick  Daylesford  Trentham  Where most needed  Becoming a volunteer 

    
The personal information you provide is 
collected and stored for use by Hepburn Health 
only. Use is subject to the Hepburn Health 
Privacy Policy which can be accessed via our 
website. For further information contact the 
Privacy Officer of 03 5321 6500. 

Card number 

 

Cardholder’s name                            expiry date                 signature 
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YOUR FEEDBACK  

This Annual Report is produced to inform our consumers, communities and Government of the range and quality of 

services we deliver and our progress against our strategic objectives. 

To make sure we provide the information you require, in a manner that is easy to understand, please complete the 

following questions and return to the address below. 

  

Q1 How effectively does this Annual Report explain Hepburn Health and the services we deliver? 

  

Very poorly  Poorly  Satisfactorily  Effectively Very effectively 

  

Q2 How did it improve your understanding - or what could we improve to help your knowledge of our Heath     

Service? 

 

   

Q3 Please rate the following elements of the report 

  

 Very Poor Poor Average Good Excellent 

Amount of information      

Layout of information       

Readability       

Ease of comprehension      

Visual appearance       

 

Q4 Why did you read or refer to this Annual Report? 

 Background information on Hepburn Health activities 

 Information on Hepburn Health performance in 2018/19 

 information about the future direction of Hepburn Health 

 Information about staff and management of Hepburn Health 

 Other (please specify) _______________________________ 

  

Q5 Is there anything you would like to see included in the Annual Report next year? 

  

Q6 What is your relationship/experience with Hepburn Health? I am a 

 Consumer 

 Government Representative 

 Staff Member 

 Medical Practitioner 

 Financial Supporter 

 Other (please specify) ________________ 

 

 

 

 
 

THANK YOU! 

Please return to: 

Chief Executive Officer 

Hepburn Health Service 

PO Box 465 

DAYLESFORD VIC 3460 

Phone: 03 5321 6500 

Email: info@hhs.vic.gov.au 
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GLOSSARY 
As a person-centred health service we are committed to breaking down barriers in health literacy for all our consumers. 

The following glossary provides definitions for some terms contained within this Annual Report. 

 

ACCREDITATION 

Independent peer assessment of an organisation’s 

performance in relation to set standards. 

BEST PRACTICE 

A technique that through experience, research, review, 

reassessment and refinement has proved to reliably 

lead to a desired result. 

BENCHMARKING 

Measuring organisational performance against similar 

organisations within its scope of practice. 

CONSUMERS 

Any patient, client, resident or person accessing our 

services.  

CLINICAL GOVERNANCE 

A system by which the governing body, managers, 

clinicians and staff share responsibility and 

accountability for quality of care, continuous 

improvement, risk minimisation and the fostering of an 

environment of excellence in care for consumers. 

COMPLIANCE 

Ensuring the organisation is aware of and takes the 

necessary actions to comply with relevant laws and 

regulations pertaining to its operations. 

DISCLOSURE 

The act of releasing all relevant information pertaining 

to the operations of the organisation to ensure full 

transparency and accountability 

EPISODE OF CARE 

A phase of treatment. There may be more than one 

episode of care within the one hospital stay. 

FRAMEWORK 

A set of principles and long-term goals that form the 

basis of making rules and guidelines and which give 

overall direction to planning and development. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 

Measures of performance against organisational 

objectives. 

QUALITY 

Doing the right things, for the right people, at the right 

time and doing them right the first time. 

PERSON-CENTRED CARE 

Placing the consumer at the centre of their own care 

and involving them in decision-making. 

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT 

Systematic and continuous actions that lead to 

measurable improvement in healthcare services and 

the health status of targeted consumer groups. 

QUALITY INDICATORS 

Statistical measures that give an indication of output 

and process quality. 

SUSTAINABILITY 

Making decisions and taking actions to meet current 

needs without compromising on future needs. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Hepburn Health Service 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Hepburn Health Service (the health service) which 

comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2019

• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended

• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

• cash flow statement for the year then ended

• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies

• board member's, accountable officer's and chief finance and accounting officer's

declaration.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the health service as at 30 June 2019 and their financial performance and cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of 

Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting 

Standards.   

Basis for 

Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 

Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 

those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 

of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 

independent of the health service in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 

Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 

responsibilities 

for the 

financial 

report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 

the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 

Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

FR2
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Auditor’s 

responsibilities 

for the audit 

of the financial 

report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 

report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the health service’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on

the health service’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a

material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to

the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up

to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the health service to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,

including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that I identify during my audit. 

MELBOURNE 

20 September 2019 

Travis Derricott 

as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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2019 2018
Note $'000 $'000

Income from Transactions 
Operating Activities 2.1 31,282 28,238 
Non-Operating Activities 2.1 233 191 
Total Income from Transactions 31,515 28,429 

Expenses from Transactions 
Employee Expenses 3.1 (24,089) (22,152) 
Supplies and Consumables 3.1 (2,113) (1,882) 
Finance Costs 3.1 (47) (56) 
Depreciation and Amortisation 3.1, 4.3 (2,268) (2,263) 
Administration and Other Operating Expenses 3.1 (3,446) (3,173) 
Total Expenses from Transactions (31,963) (29,526) 

Net Result from Transactions - Net Operating Balance (448) (1,097)

Other Economic Flows included in Net Result
Net Gain on Sale of Non-Financial Assets 3.2 11 9 
Net Loss on Financial Assets at Fair Value 3.2 - (7) 
Other (Loss)/Gain - Revaluation of Long Service Leave 3.2 (209) 25 
Total Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result (198) 27 

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR (646) (1,070) 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to Net Result
Changes in  Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation 

Surplus
4.1f 14,849 614 

Total Other Comprehensive Income 14,849 614 

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT FOR THE YEAR 14,203 (456) 

Hepburn Health Service

Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

______
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2019 2018

Note $'000 $'000

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.2 12,003 9,861 
Receivables 5.1 1,099 853 
Inventories 56 52 
Other Non-Financial Assets 37 79 

Total Current Assets 13,195 10,845 

Non-Current Assets
Receivables 5.1 1,189 921 
Property, Plant and Equipment 4.1 43,398 29,854 
Intangible Assets 4.2 45 92 

Total Non-Current Assets 44,632 30,867 

TOTAL ASSETS 57,827 41,712 

Current Liabilities
Payables 5.2 1,244 1,239 
Borrowings 6.1 - 180 
Provisions 3.4 4,564 3,817 
Other Liabilities 5.3 8,987 7,724 

Total Current Liabilities 14,795 12,960 

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 3.4 787 710 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 787 710 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,582 13,670 

NET ASSETS 42,245 28,042 

EQUITY

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 4.1f 33,770 18,921 

Contributed Capital 14,117 14,117 

Accumulated Deficits (5,642) (4,996) 

TOTAL EQUITY 42,245 28,042 

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2019

Hepburn Health Service

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

______
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Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2017 18,307 14,117 (3,913) 28,511 

Net result for the year - - (1,070) (1,070)

GRHA Joint Operation Equity Adjustment - - (13) (13)

Valuation Gain Recognised 614  -  - 614 

Balance at 30 June 2018 18,921 14,117 (4,996) 28,042 

Net result for the year  -  - (646) (646)

Valuation Gain Recognised 14,849  -  - 14,849 

Balance at 30 June 2019 33,770 14,117 (5,642) 42,245 

Hepburn Health Service

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Property, Plant 

and Equipment 

Revaluation 

Surplus

Contributed 

Capital

Accumulated 

Deficits 

______
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2019 2018

Note $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Grants from Government 24,979 23,750 
Capital Grants from Government 1,777 549 
Other Capital Receipts including capital donations 173 - 
Patient and Resident Fees Received 2,921 2,850 
Donations and Bequests Received 20 597 
GST Received from/(paid to) ATO 26 50 

Interest and Investment Income Received 233 191 
Property Income Received 241 195 
Other Receipts 806 429 
Total Receipts 31,176 28,611 

Employee Expenses Paid (22,337) (21,397) 
Non Salary Labour Costs (1,273) (730) 
Payments for Suppliers & Consumables (2,685) (1,686) 
Payments for Medical Indemnity Insurance (29) (29) 
Payments for Repairs and Maintenance (394) (544) 
Other Payments (2,339) (2,842) 
Total Payments (29,057)        (27,228)        

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8.1 2,119 1,383 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Non-Financial Assets (1,070) (433) 
Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Financial Assets 11 (13) 

NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,059) (446) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of Borrowings (180) (250) 
Receipt of Accommodation Deposits 5,251 2,290 
Repayment of Accommodation Deposits (3,989) (1,186) 

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,082 854 

2,142 1,791 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 9,861 8,070 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 6.2 12,003 9,861 

Cash Flow Statement 
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019

Hepburn Health Service

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD

______
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Basis of Preparation

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Its principal address is: 

Hospital Street

Daylesford, Victoria 3460

These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a 

different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a 

different basis.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial statements, whereby 

assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they 

relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Hepburn Health Service is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs 

applicable to "not-for-profit" Health Services under the AASBs.

These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for 

Hepburn Health Service for the year ended 30 June 2019. The report provides users with information 

about Hepburn Health Service’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 

accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable AASBs, which include interpretations 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a manner consistent 

with the requirements of AASB 101  Presentation of Financial Statements .

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 

Department of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Assistant 

Treasurer.

(b) Reporting Entity

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of Hepburn Health Service. 

A description of the nature of Hepburn Health Service’s operations and its principal activities is included 

in the report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

______
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(c) Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 

information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 

underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The accounting policies have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 

June 2019, and the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 

30 June 2018.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency 

of Hepburn Health Service.

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis 

of accounting. Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or 

expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is, they are 

recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

All amounts shown in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, 

unless otherwise stated. Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and sum of components are due to 

rounding.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis (refer to Note 8.9 Economic 

Dependency).

● Employee benefit provisions are based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims,

future salary movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 3.4 Employee Benefits in the Balance

Sheet); and

Hepburn Health Service operates on a fund accounting basis and maintains three funds: Operating, 

Specific Purpose and Capital Funds. Hepburn Health Service’s Capital and Specific Purpose Funds 

include: funds received for major capital project works, and large donations / bequests being assigned 

for capital purpose. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying 

assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 

professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also 

in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management 

in the application of AABSs that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate 

to: 

● The fair value of land, buildings and plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.1 Property, Plant and

Equipment);

______

FR10



Notes to the Financial Statements 

Hepburn Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Contributed Capital

Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions or that have been designated as 

contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital.

Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross basis.

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case the GST payable is 

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 

amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables 

in the Balance Sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 

financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO, are presented as operating cash 

flow.

(d) Equity

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions,  contributions by owners (that is, 

contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form 

part of the income and expenses of Hepburn Health Service. 

______
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Note 2: Funding Delivery of Our Services

Structure

2.1 Income from Transactions

Hepburn Health Service’s overall objective is to be an innovative and dynamic rural health and wellbeing 

service working in partnership with our communities, as well as improve the quality of life to Victorians.

Hepburn Health Service also receives income from the supply of services.

Hepburn Health Service is predominantly funded by accrual based grant funding for the provision of 

outputs.

______
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Note 2.1: Income from Transactions
2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Government Grants - Operating 25,192 23,197 

Government Grants - Capital 1,777 549 

Other Capital Purpose Income (including capital donations) 79 535 

Commercial activities 
1. 395 383 

Patient and Resident Fees 2,958 2,838 

Other Revenue from Operating Activities (including non-capital donations) 881 736 

Total Income from Operating Activities 31,282    28,238    

Other Interest 233 191 

Total Income from Non-Operating Activities 233 191 

Total Income from Transactions      31,515      28,429 

Total

1.
Commercial activities represent business activities which health service enter into to support their

operations.

______
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Note 2.1: Income from Transactions (cont'd)

Revenue from Commercial Activities

Interest Revenue

Patient and resident fees are recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.

The Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of Hepburn Health 

Service. These amounts have been brought to account as grants in determining the operating result for 

the year by recording them as revenue.

Contributions are deferred as income in advance when Hepburn Health Service has a present obligation 

to repay them and the present obligation can be reliably measured.

• The Victorian Managed Insurance Authority non-medical indemnity insurance payments are recognised

as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and Human Services; and

• Long Service Leave (LSL) revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability in line

with the long service leave funding arrangements set out in the relevant Department of Health and

Human Services Hospital Circular.

Patient and Resident Fees

Revenue Recognition

Other Income

Other income is recognised as revenue when received. Other income includes recoveries for salaries and 

wages and external services provided, and donations and bequests. If donations are for a specific 

purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as the specific restricted purpose surplus.

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield of 

the financial asset, which allocates interest over the relevant period.

Revenue from commercial activities are recognised on an accrual basis.

Non-cash Contributions from the Department of Health and Human Services

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue  and is recognised as to the extent that it is 

probable that the economic benefits will flow to Hepburn Health Service and the income can be reliably 

measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is reported as income received in advance.

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions,  government grants and other transfers of income (other 

than contributions by owners) are recognised as income when Hepburn Health Service gains control of 

the underlying assets irrespective of whether conditions are imposed on Hepburn Health Service’s use of 

the contributions.  

The Department of Health and Human Services makes some payments on behalf of health services as 

follows:

Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where applicable, net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes.

Government Grants and Other Transfers of Income (other than contributions by owners)

______
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Note 3: The Cost of Delivering Our Services

3.5 Superannuation

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by Hepburn Health Service in delivering 

services and outputs. In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in 

this note the cost associated with provision of services are recorded. 

Structure

3.1 Expenses from Transactions

3.3 Analysis of Expense and Revenue by Internally Managed and Restricted Specific Purpose Funds 

3.4 Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet

3.2 Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result

      supported by Hospital and Community initiatives

______
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Note 3.1: Expenses from Transactions

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Salaries and Wages 18,020 16,541 

On-Costs 4,543 3,899 

Agency Expenses 607 730 

Fee for Service Medical Officer Expenses 666 574 

Workcover Premium 253 408 

Total Employee Expenses 24,089 22,152 

Drug Supplies 75 73 

Medical and Surgical Supplies (including Prostheses) 288 281 

Diagnostic & Radiology Supplies 18 22 

Other Supplies & Consumables 1,732 1,506 

Total Supplies & Consumables 2,113 1,882 

Finance Costs 47 56 

Total Finance Costs 47 56 

Fuel, Light, Power and Water 506 513 

Repairs and Maintenance 237 278 

Maintenance Contracts 157 114 

Medical Indemnity Insurance 29 29 

Other Expenses 2,364 2,153 

Expenditure for Capital Purposes 153 86 

Total Administration and Other Operating Expenses 3,446 3,173 

Depreciation and Amortisation (refer Note 4.3) 2,268 2,263 

Total Other Non-Operating Expenses 2,268 2,263 

Total Expenses from transactions 31,963 29,526 

______
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Note 3.1: Expenses from Transactions (cont'd)

Employee expenses include:

● On-costs;

● Agency Expenses;

● Fee for service medical officer expenses; and

● Workcover premium.

Administration and Other Operating Expenses

• Fuel, light and power;

• Repairs and maintenance;

• Other administrative expenses; and

Expense Recognition

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Employee Expenses

Non-Operating Expenses

Other non-operating expenses generally represent expenditure for outside the normal operations such as 

depreciation and amortisation, and assets and services provided free of charge or for nominal 

consideration.

● Salaries and wages (including fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments);

Supplies and Consumables

Supplies and services costs which are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are 

incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when distributed.

The Department of Health and Human Services also makes certain payments on behalf of Hepburn 

Health Service. These amounts have been brought to account as grants in determining the operating 

result for the year by recording them as revenue and also recording the related expense.

• Expenditure for capital purposes (represents expenditure related to the purchase of assets that are

below the capitalisation threshold). 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations 

and include such things as:

______
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2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Net gain on sale of non‑financial assets

Net gain on disposal of property plant and equipment 11 9 

Total net gain on non‑‑‑‑financial assets 11 9 

Net (loss) on financial assets at amortised cost
- (7)

Total net (loss) on financial instruments at amortised cost - (7) 

Other (losses)/gains from other economic flows
(209) 25 

(209) 25 

Total (losses)/gains from other economic flows (198) 27 

Net Gain/(Loss) on Non‑‑‑‑Financial Assets

• Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets

• Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal.

Net Gain/(Loss) on Financial Assets

Other Gains/ (Losses) from Other Economic Flows

• Revaluation gains / (losses) of non-financial physical assets (Refer to Note 4.1 Property plant and

equipment.)

Total other (losses)/gains from other economic flows

Note 3.2: Other Economic Flows Included in Net Result

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from 

transactions. Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from the 

revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond interest rates.

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as 

follows:

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables

Other gains / (losses) include  the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to 

changes in the bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and the impact of changes in probability 

factors.

Net (loss)/gain arising from revaluation of long service liability

• Net gain / (loss) on financial instruments at amortised cost includes impairment and reversal of

impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost.

______
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commercial Activities
Diagnostic Imaging 31 7 26 25 

Catering and Cafeteria 119 128 124 126 

Property Income - - 245 232 

Total Commercial Activities 150 135 395 383 

Other Activities

Fundraising and Community Support 48 72 109 597 

Total Other Activities 48 72 109 597 

TOTAL 198       207       504       980       

Expense Revenue

Note 3.3: Analysis of Expenses and Revenue by Internally Managed 

and Restricted Specific Purpose Funds supported by Hospital and 

Community initiatives

______
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Note 3.4: Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

CURRENT PROVISIONS

Employee Benefits
 (i)

Annual leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
(ii)

1,256        1,305        

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months 
(iii) 211 - 

Long service leave

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
(ii)

490 381 

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months 
(iii) 2,071        1,681        

Accrued Days off

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 
(ii) 82 71 

4,110      3,438      

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs

- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 
(ii) 258 168 

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 
(iii) 196 211 

454 379 

TOTAL CURRENT PROVISIONS 4,564 3,817 

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Conditional Long Service Leave
 (i) 707 638 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs 80 72 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS 787 710 

TOTAL PROVISIONS 5,351 4,527 

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs
2019 2018

Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs $'000 $'000

Annual Leave Entitlements 1,630        1,451        

Accrued Days Off 82 71 
Unconditional LSL Entitlement 2,852        2,295        

Non-Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements
 (ii) 787 710 

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND RELATED ON-COSTS 5,351 4,527 

Notes:

(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts

(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values

(b) Movement in On-costs Provision

2019

$'000

Balance at start of year 4,527 

Additional provisions recognised 883 

Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate (24) 

Reduction due to transfer out (35) 

Balance at end of year 5,351 

(i) Provisions for employee benefits consist of amounts for accrued days off, annual leave and long service leave accrued by

employees, not including on-costs.
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Note 3.4: Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet (cont'd)

Annual Leave and Accrued Days Off

Long Service Leave

Termination Benefits

Employee Benefit Recognition

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of accrued days off, annual leave and 

long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date as an expense during the period the 

services are rendered.

Provisions

On-Costs Related to Employee Expense

Liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are all recognised in the provision for employee benefits 

as 'current liabilities' because Hepburn Health Service does not have an unconditional right to defer 

settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off 

are measured at:
• Nominal value – if Hepburn Health Service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

Provisions are recognised when Hepburn Health Service has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of 

economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. 

The liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

Provision for on-costs such as workers compensation and superannuation are recognised seperately from 

provisions for employee benefits.

• Present value – if Hepburn Health Service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even where 

Hepburn Health Service does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have 

the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 

12 months. An unconditional right arises after a qualifying period.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

• Nominal value – if Hepburn Health Service expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• Present value – if Hepburn Health Service does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability.  Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present 

value of non current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss 

arises due to changes in estimations e.g. bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes 

in probability factors which are then recognised as other economic flow.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or 

when an employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment.
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Note 3.5: Superannuation

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Defined Benefit Plans: 
(i)

First State Super 13 29 1 2 

Defined Contribution Plans:

First State Super 998 1,382 85 106 

Hesta 408 387 35 35 

Other 279 267 29 25 

Total 1,698        2,065        150 168 

Hepburn Health Service does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the plans 

because the hospital has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; 

its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and 

Finance discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items.

However superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of 

employee benefits in the Comprehensive Operating Statement of Hepburn Health Service. 

The name, details and amounts that have been expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation 

funds and contributions made by Hepburn Health Service is disclosed above.

Paid Contribution for 

the Year

Contribution 

Outstanding at Year 

End

In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated expense is 

simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees who are members of 

these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are 

expensed when incurred.

The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of defined benefit 

superannuation plans represents the contributions made by Hepburn Health Service to the superannuation 

plans in respect of the services of current Hepburn Health Service's staff during the reporting period.  

Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan and are based 

upon actuarial advice.

Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans

Defined Contribution Superannuation Plans

(i)
The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined

benefit superannuation plans.

Employees of Hepburn Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and it contributes to 

both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan provides benefits based on 

years of service and final average salary.
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Note 4: Key Assets to Support Service Delivery

Structure

4.1 Property, Plant and Equipment

4.2 Intangible Assets

4.3 Depreciation and Amortisation

Hepburn Health Service controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling 

its objectives and conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that have been 

entrusted to the hospital to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.
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Revaluation surplus is not transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset, 

except where an asset is transferred via contributed capital.

In accordance with FRD 103H, Hepburn Health Service's non-current physical assets were assessed to 

determine whether revaluation of the non-current physical assets was required.

Initial Recognition

Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment

Revaluations of Non-Current Physical Assets

Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103H 

Non-Current Physical Assets. This revaluation process normally occurs every five years, based upon the 

asset's Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments 

indicate material changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct these scheduled 

revaluations and any interim revaluations are determined in accordance with the requirements of the 

FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise from differences between an asset’s carrying value 

and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ and are credited directly to the 

asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation 

decrement in respect of that same class of asset previously recognised as an expense in net result, the 

increment is recognised as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ to the extent that a credit 

balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property, plant and 

equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are 

offset against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair 

value less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal 

cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the shorter of the 

remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements.

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account 

until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise 

disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best uses.

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.
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Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd)

For non-specialised land, an independent valuation was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria to 

determine the fair value using the market approach. Valuation of the assets was determined by 

analysing comparable sales and allowing for share, size, topography, location and other relevant factors 

specific to the asset being valued. An appropriate rate per square metre has been applied to the subject 

asset. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.

Consideration of Highest and Best Use (HBU) for Non-Financial Physical Assets

Judgements about highest and best use must take into account the characteristics of the assets 

concerned, including restrictions on the use and disposal of assets arising from the asset’s physical 

nature and any applicable legislative/contractual arrangements.

In accordance with paragraph AASB 13.29, Hepburn Health Service has assumed the current use of a 

non-financial physical asset is its HBU unless market or other factors suggest that a different use by 

market participants would maximise the value of the asset.

Non-Specialised Land 

Non-specialised land is valued using the market approach. Under this valuation method, the assets are 

compared to recent comparable sales or sales of comparable assets which are considered to have 

nominal or no added improvement value.

Identifying Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) Fair Value Measurements

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require 

significant judgement and assumptions in deriving fair value for both financial and non-financial assets.

Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are 

not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset 

or liability at the measurement date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, 

i.e., an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the

asset or owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that market

participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

Valuation Hierarchy

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in 

the financial statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value 

hierarchy. The levels are as follows: 
• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
• Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Hepburn Health Service has determined classes of assets on 

the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 

explained above.

In addition, Hepburn Health Service determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 

hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Hepburn Health Service’s independent valuation agency.
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Specialised Land and Specialised Buildings

Vehicles

Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd)

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s 

highest and best use after due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on 

the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. 

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the assets are not taken into account until 

it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the 

current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best use.

During the reporting period, Hepburn Health Service held Crown Land. The nature of this asset means 

that there are certain limitations and restrictions imposed on its use and/or disposal that may impact 

their fair value.

The market approach is also used for specialised land and specialised buildings although it is adjusted 

for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the assets being valued. 

Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified 

as Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Hepburn Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their 

economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by the Health 

Service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a 

result, the fair value of vehicles does not differ materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost).

Plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers and communication equipment and 

furniture and fittings) are held at carrying amount (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is 

specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated 

replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current 

replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely 

that depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying amount. 

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019. 

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated 

with an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in 

light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into 

account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. As 

adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be 

classified as Level 3 assets. 

For Hepburn Health Service, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of 

specialised buildings, adjusting for the associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are 

considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 

3 for fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of Hepburn Health Service’s specialised land and specialised buildings was 

performed by the Valuer-General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach 

adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.

Plant and Equipment
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Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd)

2019 2018

$'000 $'000 

Land
- Land at Fair Value

Crown 2,059 1,410 

      Freehold 3,083 2,813 

Total Land 5,142 4,223 

Asset under Construction

Asset Under Construction 447 27 

Total Assets Under Construction 447 27 

Buildings

- Buildings at Cost 32 20 

      Less Accumulated Depreciation (3) (2) 

29 18 

- Buildings at Fair Value 36,501 24,154 

36,501 24,154 

Total Buildings 36,530 24,172 

Leasehold Improvements

- Leasehold Improvements at Cost 45 45 

      Less Accumulated Depreciation (42) (41) 

Total Leasehold Improvements 3 4 

Plant and Equipment 

- Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 679 1,041 

- Plant and Equipment at Fair Value GRHA 425 355 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (572) (699)

Total Plant and Equipment 532 697 

Medical Equipment

- Medical Equipment at Fair Value 2,238 2,277 

      Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,880) (1,969) 

Total Medical Equipment 358 308 

Computers and Communication Equipment
- Computers and Communication Equipment at Fair Value 739 665 

      Less Accumulated Depreciation (530) (406)

Total Computers and Communication Equipment 209 259 

Furniture and Fittings

- Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value 206 207 

      Less Accumulated Depreciation (162) (160)

Total Furniture and Fittings 44 47 

Motor Vehicle

- Motor Vehicle at Fair Value 1,256 1,232 

      Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,123) (1,115) 

Total Motor Vehicle 133 117 

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 43,398 29,854 

(a) Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Depreciation

______
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Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2017 3,609        25,941    658 352 196 53 165 4 29 31,007       

Additions - 26 84 27 181 2 51 23 5 399 

Disposals - - (4) - - - - - (4) 

Net movement in assets held by GRHA - - 27 - - - - - - 27 

Revaluation increments 614 - - - - - - - - 614 

Depreciation (refer Note 4.3) - (1,795) (68) (71) (118) (8) (99) - (30) (2,189) 

Balance at 1 July 2018 4,223        24,172    697 308 259 47 117 27 4 29,854       

Additions - 73 47 123 64 7 99 431 - 844 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - -

Net movement in assets held by GRHA - - 72 - - - - - - 72 

Revaluation increments 919 13,930     - - - - - - - 14,849 

Net Transfers between classes - 211 (208) - 10 (10) 7 (11) - - 

Depreciation (refer Note 4.3) - (1,856) (76) (73) (124) - (90) - (1) (2,221) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 5,142        36,530    532 358 209 44 133 447 3 43,398       

Land and Buildings and Leased Assets Carried at Valuation

(b) Reconciliations of the Carrying Amounts of each Class of Asset

The Valuer-General Victoria undertook to re-value all of Hepburn Health Service owned and leased land and buildings to determine their fair value. The valuation, which 

conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an 

arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2019.

Leasehold 

Improvements

Assets under 

Construction
Total

Motor 

Vehicles

Furniture & 

Fittings

Computers & 

Comms 

Equipment

Medical  

Equipment

Plant & 

Equipment
BuildingsLand
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Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

(c) Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets

Level 1 
(i)

Level 2 
(i)

Level 3 
(i)

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 30 June 2019

Land at Fair Value

- Non-Specialised Land 3,083 - 3,083 - 

 - Specialised Land 2,059 - - 2,059 

Total Land at Fair Value 5,142 - 3,083 2,059       

Buildings at Fair Value

- Specialised Buildings 36,501 - - 36,501 

Total Building at Fair Value 36,501         - - 36,501     

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 532 532 

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value 133 - 133 - 

Medical Equipment at Fair Value 358 - - 358 

Computers and Communication 

Equipment at Fair Value 209 - - 209 

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value 44 - - 44 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 42,919         - 3,216 39,703     

Level 1 
(i)

Level 2 
(i)

Level 3 
(i)

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 30 June 2018

Land at Fair Value

- Non-Specialised Land 2,280 - 2,280 - 

 - Specialised Land 1,943 - - 1,943 

Total Land at Fair Value 4,223 - 2,280 1,943       

Buildings at Fair Value

- Specialised Buildings 24,154 - - 24,154 

Total Building at Fair Value 24,154         - - 24,154     

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 697 - - 697 

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value
 (ii)

117 - 117 - 

Medical Equipment at Fair Value 308 - - 308 

Computers and Communication 

Equipment at Fair Value 259 - - 259 

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value 47 - - 47 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 29,805         - 2,397 27,408     
Note

(ii)
Vehicles are catergorised to Level 2, as Hepburn Health Service vehicles are determined via a market approach. There have

been no transfers between levels during the period.

Carrying 

Amount 

Fair value measurement at end of 

reporting period using:

Carrying 

Amount 

Fair value measurement at end of 

reporting period using:

(i)
Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
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Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value 
(i)

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 697 308 259 47 1,943 24,154 27,408 

Additions/(Disposals), including movement in assets 

held by GRHA (88) 123 74 (3) - 273 378 

Gains/(Losses) recognised in Net Result

- Depreciation (76) (73) (124) - - (1,857) (2,130) 

Items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

- Revaluation - - - - 116 13,930 14,046 

Balance at 30 June 2019 532 358 209 44 2,059 36,501 39,703 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2017 658 352 196 54 1,630 24,765 27,655 

Additions/(Disposals), including movement in assets 

held by GRHA 107 27 181 1 - 26 342 

Gains/(Losses) recognised in Net Result

- Depreciation (68) (71) (118) (8) - (1,795) (2,060) 

Items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

- Revaluation - - - - 313 1,158 1,471 

Balance at 30 June 2018 697 308 259 47 1,943 24,154 27,408 

(i)
Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, refer Note 4.1(c).

Total
Plant & 

Equipment
Land Buildings

Plant & 

Equipment
Land Buildings Total

Medical 

Equipment

Medical 

Equipment

Computers & 

Communication 

Equipment

Computers & 

Communication 

Equipment

Furniture & 

Fittings

Furniture & 

Fittings
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Note 4.1: Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

(e): Property, Plant and Equipment (Fair value determination)

Asset class
Examples of types of 

assets

Expected fair 

value level

Likely valuation 

approach

Significant inputs 

(Level 3 only)

In areas where there is an 

active market:
- Vacant land

- Land not subject to

restrictions as to use or

sale

- Land subject to restriction

as to use and/or sale

- Land in areas where there

is not an active market

- Cost per  square

metre

- Useful life

Vehicles
If there is an active 

resale market available
Level 2 Market approach n.a.

- Cost per  square

metre

- Useful life

- Cost per unit

- Useful life

- Cost per  square

metre

- Useful life

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 18,921 18,307 

Revaluation Increment

- Land (refer Note 4.1(b)) 919 614 
- Buildings 13,930 - 

Balance at the end of the reporting period* 33,770 18,921 

* Represented by:

- Land 4,210 3,291 
- Buildings 29,560 15,630 

33,770 18,921 

Non‑specialised land Level 2 Market approach n.a.

Specialised Land 

(Crown / Freehold) 
(i) Level 3 Market approach

Community Service 

Obligations Adjustments

Specialised buildings 

Specialised buildings 

with limited alternative uses 

and/or substantial 

customisation e.g. prisons, 

hospitals and schools

Level 3

Depreciated 

replacement cost 

approach

Depreciated 

replacement cost 

approach

(i) 
Community Service Obligation (CSO) adjustment of 25% was applied to reduce the market approach value for Hepburn Health

Service's specialised land.

Road, infrastructure 

and earthworks 
Any type Level 3

Depreciated 

replacement cost 

approach

Plant and equipment

Specialised items with 

limited alternative 

uses and/or substantial 

customisation

Level 3

Depreciated 

replacement cost 

approach

Infrastructure Any type Level 3
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Note 4.2: Intangible Assets
(a) Intangible assets - Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Amortisation

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Information Technology Software and Development Costs 699 699 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (654) (607) 

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 45 92 

Computer 

Software

$'000

Balance at 1 July 2017 166 

Amortisation (refer Note 4.3) (74) 

Balance at 1 July 2018 92 
Amortisation (refer Note 4.3) (47) 
Balance at 30 June 2019 45 

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance such as 

computer software and development costs. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives 

are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred 

subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic 

benefits will flow to Hepburn Health Service.

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the previous 

and current financial year:

______

FR32



Notes to the Financial Statements 

Hepburn Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019

Note 4.3: Depreciation and Amortisation

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Depreciation

Buildings 1,857 1,795 

Leasehold Improvements 1 30 

Plant & Equipment 69 68 

Medical Equipment 73 71 

Computers and Communications 124 118 

Motor Vehicle 90 99 

Other 7 8 

TOTAL DEPRECIATION 2,221 2,189 

Amortisation

Intangible Assets 47 74 

Total Amortisation 47 74 

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 2,268 2,263 

Depreciation

2019 2018

Buildings 4 to 50 years 4 to 50 years

Leasehold Improvements 18 months 18 months

Plant & Equipment 5 to 20 years 5 to 20 years

Medical Equipment 3 to 20 years 3 to 20 years

Computers and Communication 5 to 20 years 5 to 20 years

Furniture and Fitting 5 to 20 years 5 to 20 years

Motor Vehicles 4 years 4 years

Intangible Assets 1 to 4 years 1 to 4 years

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets 

(excluding items under operating leases and land) that have finite useful lives are depreciated. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value, 

less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. 

Amortisation

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the 

depreciation and amortisation charges are based.

As part of the building valuation, building values were separated into components and each 

component assessed for its useful life which is represented above.

Amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.
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Note 5: Other Assets and Liabilities

Structure

5.1 Receivables

5.2 Payables

5.3 Other Liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from Hepburn Health Service's operations.

______

FR34



Notes to the Financial Statements 

Hepburn Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019

Note 5.1: Receivables
2019 2018

$'000 $'000

CURRENT

Contractual
Inter Hospital Debtors 425 271 

Trade Debtors 138 116 

Patient Fees 318 287 

Share of Receivables held at GRHA 15 18 

Accrued Revenue 84 88 

  Less  Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables
- Trade Debtors (5) (4) 

- Patient Fees (20) (26) 

955 750 

Statutory
GST Receivable 144 103 

144 103 

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES 1,099 853 

NON-CURRENT

Statutory

Long Service Leave - Department of Health and Human Services 1,189 921 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 1,189 921 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 2,288 1,774 

Recivables Recognition

Receivables consist of:

Impairment Losses of Receivables

Refer to Note 7.1(c) receivables at amortised costs for Hepburn Health Service’s impairment losses.

● Contractual receivables, which consists of debtors in relation to goods and services and accrued income.

These receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as ‘financial assets at amortised

costs’. They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Hepburn

Health Service holds the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows

and therefore subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any

impairment.

● Statutory receivables, which predominantly includes amounts owing from the Victorian Government and

Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable. Statutory receivables do not arise from

contracts and are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment),

but are not classified as financial instruments for disclosure purposes. Hepburn Health Service applies

AASB 9 for initial measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables are

initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the 

date of recognition. 
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Note 5.2: Payables

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

CURRENT

Contractual

Trade Creditors 342 188 

Accrued Salaries and Wages 388 299 

Accrued Expenses 399 621 
Creditors GRHA 51 34 

1,180 1,142 

Statutory

GST Payable 67 49 
Provision for Rural Access Recall (3) 48 

64 97 

TOTAL CURRENT PAYABLES 1,244 1,239 

TOTAL PAYABLES 1,244 1,239 

Payables Recognition

The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 30 days.

Maturity Analysis of Payables

Refer to Note 7.1(b) for the ageing analysis of payables.

• Statutory Payables, which predominantly includes amounts owing to the Victorian Government.

Payables consist of:

• Contractual Payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing liabilities for goods and

services and salaries and wages payable provided to Hepburn Health Service prior to the end of the financial year that

are unpaid, and arise when Hepburn Health Service becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the

purchase of those goods and services.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and are initially recognised at fair value, and then 

subsequently carried at amortised cost. Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual 

payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at 

amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.
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Note 5.3: Other Liabilities

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

CURRENT

Unearned Income 191 191 

Monies Held in Trust*

- Patient Monies Held in Trust* 224 181 

- Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees)* 8,560 7,344 

- Other Monies Held in Trust* 12 8 

Total Current 8,987 7,724 

Total Other Liabilities 8,987 7,724 

* Total Monies Held in Trust

Represented by the following assets:
Cash Assets 8,987 7,724 

TOTAL 8,987 7,724 
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Note 6: How We Finance Our Operations

Structure

6.1 Borrowings

6.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents

6.3 Commitments for Expenditure

6.4 Commitments for Income

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash 

balances). Note 7.1 provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by Hepburn Health Service during its 

operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other information related to 

financing activities of the hospital.
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Note 6.1: Borrowings

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

CURRENT

Australian Dollar Borrowings

– Department of Health and Human Services Loan
 (i)

- 180 

Total Australian Dollars Borrowings - 180 

Total Current - 180 

Total Borrowings - 180 

(a) Maturity analysis of borrowings

Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the maturity analysis of borrowings.

Borrowings Recognition

(i) These are unsecured loans which bear no interest.

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received, less directly 

attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference 

between the initial amount and the redemption value being recognised in the net result over the 

period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate. 
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Note 6.2: Cash and Cash Equivalents

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Cash on Hand (excluding Monies held in trust) 3 2 
Cash at Bank  (excluding Monies held in trust) 2,867 2,105 
Cash GRHA 146 221 

Cash at Bank  (Monies held in trust) 8,987 7,533 

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 12,003 9,861        

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the Balance Sheet comprise cash on hand and in banks and 

deposits at call , which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than 

for investment purposes, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to 

insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and 

in banks, and monies held in trust.
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Note 6.3: Commitments for Expenditure

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Lease Commitments

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date:

Operating leases 290 111 

Total Lease Commitments 290 111 

Operating Leases

Payable as follows:

Not later than one year 122 70 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 168 41 

Total Operating Lease Commitments 290 111 

Total Commitments (inclusive of GST) 

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (4) (10)
Total Commitments (exclusive of GST) 286 101 

Note 6.4: Commitments for Income

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Commitments in relation to Leases Receivable are as follows:

Payable as follows:

Not later than one year 130 192 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 103 233 

Total Operating Lease Commitments 233 425 

Total Commitments Receivable (inclusive of GST)

less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (21) (39)
Total Commitments (exclusive of GST) 212 386 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a actual basis over the term of the relevant 

lease. Where leases increase are on a variable basis, commitment above is show as the nominal lease 

value excluding any allowance for increases.

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the 

Comprehensive Operating Statement on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another 

systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the 

leased asset. The leased assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet.

Commitments for future expenditure include operating commitments arising from contracts. These 

commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and inclusive of the GST payable. These future 

expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on the 

Balance Sheet. 

Hepburn Health Service has entered into commercial leases on certain computer equipment and 

vehicles where it is not in the interest of Hepburn Health Service to purchase these assets. These 

leases have an average life of between 1 and 20 years with renewal terms included in the contracts. 

Renewals are at the option of Hepburn Health Service. There are no restrictions placed upon the 

lessee by entering into these leases.
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Note 7: Risks, Contingencies and Valuation Uncertainties

Hepburn Health Service is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often 

necessary to make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in 

the financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including 

exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level 

of judgement to be applied, which for the health service is related mainly to fair value determination.

Structure

7.1 Financial Instruments
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments

(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments

Financial Assets at 

Amortised Cost

Financial Liabilities at 

Amortised Cost Total

2019 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 12,003 - 12,003 

Receivables

- Trade Debtors 872 - 872 
- Other Receivables (i) 84 - 84 

Total Financial Assets 
(i) 12,959 - 12,959 

Financial Liabilities

Payables - 1,180 1,180 
Other Financial Liabilities

- Accommodation Bonds - 8,560 8,560 

- Monies Held in Trust - 236 236 

- Other - 191 191 

Total Financial Liabilities 
(i) - 10,167 10,167 

Contractual Financial 

Assets - Loans and 

Receivables and cash

Contractual Financial 

Liabilities at Amortised 

Cost Total

2018 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 9,861 - 9,861 

Receivables

- Trade Debtors 662 - 662 
- Other Receivables 88 - 88 

Total Financial Assets 
(i) 10,611 - 10,611 

Financial Liabilities

Payables - 1,142 1,142 
Borrowings - 180 180 
Other Financial Liabilities

- Accommodation Bonds - 7,344 7,344 

- Monies Held in Trust - 189 189 

- Other - 191 191 

Total Financial Liabilities 
(i) - 9,046 9,046 

Categories of Financial Assets under AASB 9 

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Loans and receivables category includes cash 

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 

equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of Hepburn Health Service's activities, certain financial assets and financial 

liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of 

financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. 

From 1 July 2018, Hepburn Health Service applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model 

for managing the assets and the asset’s contractual terms. 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the assets are not designated as 

fair value through net result:

• the assets are held by Hepburn Health Service to collect the contractual cash flows, and

• the assets’ contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interests.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. Hepburn Health Service recognises the following assets in 

this category:

• cash and deposits; and

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables).

(i) The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DHHS receivable) and statutory payables (i.e.

Revenue in advance and DHHS payable).

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an active 

market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and deposits, term deposits with maturity greater than three months, trade 

receivable and other receivables, but not statutory receivables.
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments (continued)

(a) Categorisation of Financial Instruments (cont'd)

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

(b) Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities

Note

Carrying 

Amount

Nominal 

Amount

Less than 

1 Month

1-3

Months

3 months - 

1 Year

1-5 Years

2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 5.2 1,180        1,180        959 110 111 - 

  Other Financial Liabilities (i)

- Accommodation Deposits 5.3 8,560        8,560        8,560       - - - 

   - Monies Held in Trust 5.3 236 236 236 - - - 

   - Other 5.3 191 191 191 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 10,167 10,167 9,946      110 111 - 

2018

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 5.2 1,142        1,142        914 48 180 - 

Borrowings 6.1 180 180 - - 180 - 

Other Financial Liabilities (i)

- Accommodation Deposits 5.3 7,344        7,344        7,344       - - - 

   - Monies Held in Trust 5.3 189 189 189 - - - 

   - Other 5.3 191 191 191 - - - 

Total Financial Liabilities 9,046       9,046       8,638      48 360 - 

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially 

measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial 

recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in the Comprehensive Operating 

Statement over the period of the interest-bearing liability.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of Hepburn Health Service's 

contractual payables, deposits held and advances received, and interest-bearing arrangements other than 

those designated at fair value through the Comprehensive Operating Statement.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Hepburn Health Service's financial 

liabilities. For interest rates applicable to each class of liability refer to individual notes to the 

financial statements.

(i) Maturity analysis of financial liabilities excludes statutory financial liabilities (i.e GST payable)

Maturity Dates
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Note 7.1: Financial Instruments

(c) Contractual Receivables at Amortised Cost

Expected loss rate 0.2% 2.1% 2.1% 20.8% - 

671 97 14 115 897 

Loss allowance 1 2 0 23 26 

30-Jun-19

Expected loss rate 0.2% 5.1% 8.0% 75.0% - 

557 82 22 31 692 

Loss allowance 1 4 2 23 30 

Reconciliation of the movement in the Loss Allowance for Contractual Receivables 

2019 2018

Balance at beginning of the year 30 32

Opening Loss Allowance 30 32

Increase in provision recognised in the net result 0 4

Reversal of provision of receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 0 (6)

Reversal of unused provision recognised in the net result (4) 0

Balance at end of the year 26 30

1-Jul-18 Current
Less than 1 

month
1–3 months 3 months –1 year

Gross carrying amount of contractual 

receivables

Gross carrying amount of contractual 

receivables

 Total 

Current
Less than 1 

month
1–3 months 3 months –1 year Total

Impairment of Financial Assets under AASB 9 – applicable from 1 July 2018

From 1 July 2018, the Hepburn Health Service has been recording the allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant 

financial instruments, replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject 

to AASB 9 impairment assessment include Hepburn Health Service’s contractual receivables and statutory receivables. 

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9, the identified impairment 

loss was immaterial. 

Contractual Receivables at Amortised Cost

Hepburn Health Service applies AASB 9 simplified approach for all contractual receivables to measure expected credit 

losses using a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. 

Hepburn Health Service has grouped contractual receivables on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due and 

select the expected credit loss rate based on the Health Service’s past history, existing market conditions, as well as 

forward looking estimates at the end of the financial year. 

On this basis, Hepburn Health Service determines the opening loss allowance on initial application date of AASB 9 and the 

closing loss allowance at end of the financial year as disclosed above.

Credit loss allowance is classified as other economic flows in the net result. Contractual receivables are written off when 

there is no reasonable expectation of recovery and impairment losses are classified as a transaction expense. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

In prior years, a provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be 

collected and bad debts are written off when identified. A provision is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the 

sale of goods when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. Bad debts considered as written 

off by mutual consent. 

Statutory receivables at Amortised ost 

Hepburn Health Service’s non-contractual receivables arising from statutory requirements are not financial instruments. 

However, they are nevertheless recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 9 requirements as if those 

receivables are financial instruments. 

Statutory receivables are considered to have low credit risk, taking into account the counterparty’s credit rating, risk of 

default and capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. As the result, the loss allowance 

recognised for these financial assets during the period was limited to 12 months expected losses. No loss allowance 

recognised at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139. No additional loss allowance required upon transition into AASB 9 on 1 July 

2018.
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Note 8: Other Disclosures

8.1 Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities
8.2 Responsible Persons

8.3 Remuneration of Executive Officers

8.4 Related Parties

8.5 Remuneration of Auditors

8.6 Ex-gratia Payments

8.7 Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date

8.8 Jointly Controlled Operations

8.9 Economic Dependency

8.10 Changes in Accounting Policy and Revision of Estimates

8.11 AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for 

the understanding of this annual report.

Structure
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2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Net Result for the Year (646) (1,070) 

Non-Cash Movements:
Depreciation and Amortisation 2,268 2,263 

Provision for Doubtful Debts - 4 

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables (4) - 

Movements included in Investing and Financing Activities:

Net (Gain)/Loss from Disposal of Non-Financial Physical Assets (11) (9) 

Movements in Assets and Liabilities:

Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities

     (Increase)/Decrease in Receivables (412) 348 

     (Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets 42 107 

     Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 62 (215) 

     Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 824 (43) 

     (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (4) (2) 

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,119 1,383 

Note 8.1: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash 

Flow from Operating Activities
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Note 8.2: Responsible Persons

Governing Boards

Mr Philip Thomson - Chair

Mr Lesley Hewitt - Deputy Chair

Ms Susan Craven

Cr Kate Redwood

Ms Andrea Driscoll

Professor Jeffrey Zajac

Mr Craig Mutton

Ms Katrina Lai

Mr Stephen Millard

Accountable Officers

Ms Maree Cuddihy

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2019 2018

Income Band No. No.

$0 - $9,999 9 10 

Total Numbers 9 10 

$31,000      -$  

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the Department of Parliamentary 

Services' Financial Report.

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing

29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

During the 2017/18 and 2018/19 reporting period, the Accountable officer was contracted from another 

Health service.  As these payments were made to the Health Service through accounts payable and not 

as remuneration to the Officer, these payments are not included in the above income bands. 

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible 

Persons from the reporting entity amounted to:

01/07/2018 - 29/11/2018

29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health and Minister for 

Ambulance Services

The Honourable Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child Protection, Minister for 

Disability, Ageing and Carers

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial 

Management Act 1994 , the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the 

reporting period.

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for 

Ambulance Services

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

01/07/2018 - 29/11/2018

Responsible Ministers: 
Period
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Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executive Officers

Remuneration of Executive Officers

(including Key Management Personnel Disclosed in Note 8.4) 2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Short-term Benefits 582 484 

Post-employment Benefits 46 53 

Other Long-term Benefits 17 27 

Termination Benefits - 29 

Total Remuneration
 i

645 593 

Total Number of Executives 5 8 

Total Annualised Employee Equivalent
 ii 4.2 4.1 

Short-term Employee Benefits

Post-employment Benefits

Other Long-term Benefits

Termination Benefits

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and the Accountable Officer, and their total 

remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent 

provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as 

non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services. 

Pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased. 

ii 
Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.

Total Remuneration

i 
The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management 

Personnel (KMP) of Hepburn Health Service under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures  and are also reported 

within Note 8.4 Related Parties. 

Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation. 

Termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

Total remuneration payable to executives during the year included additional executive officers and a number 

of executives who received bonus payments during the year. These bonus payments depend on the terms of 

individual employment contracts. 

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in 

exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories:
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Note 8.4: Related Parties

· Jointly Controlled Operation – A member of the Grampians Rural Health Alliance; and

Entity KMPs Position Title

Hepburn Health Service Mr Phil Thomson - Chair Board Chair

Hepburn Health Service Mr Lesley Hewitt - Deputy Chair Board Deputy Chair

Hepburn Health Service Ms Susan Craven Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Cr Kate Redwood Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Ms Andrea Driscoll Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Professor Jeffrey Zajac Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Mr Craig Mutton Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Ms Katrina Lai Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Mr Stephen Millard Board Member

Hepburn Health Service Ms Maree Cuddihy Chief Executive Officer

Hepburn Health Service Mr Phillip Catterson Chief Operating Officer

Hepburn Health Service Ms Brenda Rooney Chrief Financial Officer

Hepburn Health Service Ms Narelle McBride Executive Director, People & Culture

Hepburn Health Service Ms Barbara Harrison Chief Nursing Officer

Hepburn Health Service Dr Anand Ponniraivan Director Medical Services

2019 2018

$ $

       Compensation - KMPs

      Short-term Employee Benefits
 i 805 690 

      Post-employment Benefits 46 53 
      Other Long-term Benefits 17 27 
      Termination Benefits - 29 

       Total 
ii

868 799 

Hepburn Health Service paid total remuneration during 2019 of $192k (2018, $187k) to Kyneton District Health for 

contracted CEO services. This is included in Short-term Employee Benefits reported above.

The Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer require Hepburn Health Service to hold cash (in excess of working 

capital) in accordance with the State’s centralised banking arrangements. All borrowings are required to be sourced 

from Treasury Corporation Victorian unless an exemption has been approved by the Minister for Health and Human 

Services and the Treasurer.

Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance products are obtained from a Victorian Public Financial 

Corporation.

Hepburn Health Service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the health 

service include:

· All key management personnel (KMP) and their close family members;

· Cabinet ministers (where applicable) and their close family members;

· All hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the State of Victoria financial

statements.

The compensation detailed below is reported in $'000 and excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Ministers 

receive. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 

1968 , and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.

KMPs are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 

Hepburn Health Service, directly or indirectly. 

The Board of Directors and the Executive Officers of Hepburn Health Service are deemed to be KMPs.

i
 Total remuneration paid to KMP employed as a contractor during the reporting period through accounts payable has 

been included in Short-term Employee Benefits. 
ii
 KMPs are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons or Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executive Officers, with the 

exception of contracted services. Refer note 8.3 Remuneration of Executive Officers. 

Significant Transactions with Government Related Entities

Hepburn Health Service received funding from the Department of Health and Human Services of $17.1m (2018: 

$14.3m).

Expenses incurred by Hepburn Health Service in delivering services and outputs are in accordance with Health 

Purchasing Victoria requirements. Goods and services including procurement, diagnostics, patient meals and multi-site 

operational support are provided by other Victorian Health Service Providers on commercial terms.
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Note 8.4: Related Parties (continued)

Specific Disclosures

There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed for Hepburn Health Service's Board of Directors and 

Executive Directors in 2019, other than outlined below. 

During the year, Hepburn Shire Council, of which Cr Kate Redwood, Board Member of Hepburn Health Service is a 

Councillor, provided Hepburn Health Service with contracted home, personal care and community care services.  

Additionally, Hepburn Shire Council provided funding to Hepburn Health Service for a range of community health and 

related services including maternity and child health services, allied health, aged care and services funded under the 

'L2P' (Learner Driver) Program.  Total value of transactions for the year was $495.5K (GST Inclusive), with all 

transactions made under standard contract terms and conditions.  

Transactions with KMPs and Other Related Parties

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in 

a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. 

Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the 

Public Administration Act 2004  and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 

Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 

requirements. 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Hepburn Health Service, there were no related party transactions 

that involved key management personnel, their close family members and their personal business interests. No 

provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties. There 

were no related party transactions with Cabinet Ministers required to be disclosed in 2019. 
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Note 8.5: Remuneration of Auditors

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit and Review of Financial Statements 29 32 

Other Providers

Internal Audit services 41 41 

TOTAL RENUMERATION OF AUDITORS 70 73 

Note 8.6: Ex Gratia Payments

Note 8.7 : Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date

There are no events occurring after the Balance Sheet Date.

In accordance with FRD 11 Hepburn Health Service has made no ex-gratia payments in the 

2018-19 financial year.

Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where 

the transactions result from an agreement between Hepburn Health Service and other parties, 

the transactions are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of 

the reporting period.

Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which 

occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue, where those events provide information about conditions which existed at 

the reporting date. Note disclosure is made about events between the end of the reporting 

period and the date the financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to 

conditions which arose after the end of the reporting period that are considered to be of 

material interest.
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Note 8.8: Jointly Controlled Operations 

Name of Entity Principal Activity 2019 2018
% %

Grampians Rural Health Alliance (GRHA) Information Technology Alliance 6.36% 6.29%

Hepburn Health Service interest in the above jointly controlled operations are detailed below.

The amounts are included in the financial statements under their respective categories :

2019 2018

$'000 $'000
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 147 221 

Receivables 15 18 

Prepayments 18 11 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 180 250 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment 338 267 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 338 267 

TOTAL ASSETS 518 517 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 50 34 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 50 34 

NET ASSETS 468 483 

EQUITY

Accumulated Surpluses 468 483 

TOTAL EQUITY 468 483 

2019 2018

$'000 $'000
REVENUE

Grants & Other Agency Contributions 395 367 

TOTAL REVENUE 395 367 

EXPENSES

GRHA Expenses 373 343 

TOTAL EXPENSES 373 343 

NET RESULT BEFORE CAPITAL AND SPECIFIC ITEMS 22 24 

GRHA Capital Purpose Income 14 54 

GRHA Expenditure for Capital Purpose 51 28 

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR (15) 50 

Note 8.9: Economic Dependency

Ownership Interest

Hepburn Health Service's interest in revenues and expenses resulting from jointly controlled operations are detailed 

below: 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. Hepburn Health Service is dependent on the 

Department of Health and Human Services for the majority of its revenue used to operate the entity. At the date of 

this report, the Board of Directors has no reason to believe the Department will not continue to support Hepburn 

Health Service.
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Changes in Accounting Policy 

Summary of Reclassification of Assets and Liabilities

AASB 139 Measurement Categories

Loans and receivables

   Sale of goods and services 631 - - 631 - 

   Other receivables 314 - - 314 - 

As at 1 July 2018 945 - - 945 - 

Note 8.10: Changes in Accounting Policy and Revision of 

Estimates

AASB 9 Measurement Categories

AASB 139 

Measurement 

Categories

Fair value 

through net 

result 

(designated)

Fair value 

through net 

result 

(mandatory)

Amortised 

cost

Fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income

As at 30 June 2018

Hepburn Health Service has elected to apply the limited exemption in AASB 9 paragraph 7.2.15 

relating to transition for classification and measurement and impairment, and accordingly has not 

restated comparative periods in the year of initial application. As a result:

(a) any adjustments to carrying amounts of financial assets or liabilities are recognised at

beginning of the current reporting period with difference recognised in opening retained earnings;

and
(b) financial assets and provision for impairment have not been reclassified and/or restated in the

comparative period.

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments  on Hepburn Health 

Service's financial statements.

Changes to Classification and Measurement
On initial application of AASB 9 on 1 July 2018, Hepburn Health Service's management has 

assessed for all financial assets based on the Health Service 's business models for managing the 

assets. The following are the changes in the classification of Hepburn Health Service’s financial 

assets: 

For other loans and receivables, Hepburn Health Service applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to 

measure expected credit losses based on the change in the ECLs over the life of the asset. 

Application of the lifetime ECL allowance method results in no material change in the impairment 

loss allowance. Refer to note 7.1 (c) for details about the calculation of the allowance. 

Changes to the Impairment of Financial Assets

Under AASB 9, all loans and receivables as well as other debt instruments not carried at fair value 

through net result are subject to AASB 9's new expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model, which 

replaces AASB 139's incurred loss approach.

______

FR54



Notes to the Financial Statements 

Hepburn Health Service Annual Report 2018/2019

Note 8.11: AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective

Standard / Interpretation Summary

Applicable for 

annual reporting 

periods beginning 

on

Impact on Hepburn Health Service Financial 

Statements

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an 

entity to recognise revenue when the entity 

satisfies a performance obligation by 

transferring a promised good or service to 

a customer. Note that amending standard 

AASB 2015 8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 

AASB 15 has deferred the effective date of 

AASB 15 to annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 

instead of 1 January 2017 for Not-for-Profit 

entities.

1-Jan-19 The changes in revenue recognition requirements in 

AASB 15 may result in changes to the timing and 

amount of revenue recorded in the financial 

statements. Revenue from grants that are provided 

under an enforceable agreement that have sufficiently 

specific obligations, will now be deferred and 

recognised as the performance obligations attached to 

the grant are satisfied. At 1st July 2019 this will result 

in a Balance sheet transfer of $2.158Mill from 

Accumulated funds (Deficits) account to Capital Grants 

in Advance. This represents Capital funding received 

and recognised as revenue, but not yet expended at 

30th June 2019. Future affect on timing of recognition 

of revenue in the Comprehensive Operating statement 

is unknown, as is dependant on timing of capital 

funding received and expended. 

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards – 

Australian Implementation 

Guidance for Not for-Profit Entities

AASB 2016-8 inserts Australian 

requirements and authoritative 

implementation guidance for not-for-profit-

entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. 

This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 

15 to include requirements to assist not-for-

profit entities in applying the respective 

standards to particular transactions and 

events.

1-Jan-19 This standard clarifies the application of AASB 15 and 

AASB 9 in a not-for-profit context. The areas within 

these standards that are amended for not-for-profit 

application include:

AASB 9 

• Statutory receivables are recognised and measured

similarly to financial assets.

AASB 15

• The ‘customer’ does not need to be the recipient of

goods and/or services;

• The “contract” could include an arrangement entered

into under the direction of another party;

• Contracts are enforceable if they are enforceable by

legal or ‘equivalent means’;

• Contracts do not have to have commercial substance,

only economic substance; and

• Performance obligations need to be ‘sufficiently

specific’ to be able to apply AASB 15 to these

transactions.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 

include the recognition of most operating 

leases (which are currently not recognised) 

on balance sheet.

1-Jan-19 The assessment has indicated that most operating 

leases, with the exception of short term and low value 

leases will come on to the balance sheet and will be 

recognised as right of use assets with a corresponding 

lease liability. 

In the operating statement, the operating lease 

expense will be replaced by depreciation expense of the 

asset and an interest charge.

There will be no change for lessors as the classification 

of operating and finance leases remains unchanged. At 

1st July 2019 this will result in an Asset of $234K 

(current written down value of motor vehicles leases), 

and a corresponding Liability being recognised on the 

Balance Sheet. These are expected to have no affect 

overall of the Operating Statement result, but will differ 

as to the expense allocation line as outlined above. All 

other leases held at 30th June 2019 are near the end of 

their term so of a short term nature with no change 

under this Standard. 

Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2019 reporting period. Department of Treasury and 

Finance assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises Hepburn Health Service of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2019, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective. They become effective for the first 

financial statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below. Hepburn Health Service has not and does 

not intend to adopt these standards early.
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Note 8.11: AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective (cont'd).

Standard / Interpretation Summary

Applicable for 

annual reporting 

periods beginning 

on

Impact on Hepburn Health Services Financial 

Statements

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit 

Entities

1-Jan-19 Grant revenue is currently recognised up front upon 

receipt of the funds under AASB 1004 

Contributions .

The timing of revenue recognition for grant 

agreements that fall under the scope of AASB 1058 

may be deferred. For example, revenue from 

capital grants for the construction of assets will 

need to be deferred and recognised progressively 

as the asset is being constructed.

The impact on current revenue recognition of the 

changes is the potential phasing and deferral of 

revenue recorded in the operating statement. As 

outlined under AASB 15 above, at 1st July 2019 

this will result in a Balance sheet transfer of 

$2.158Mill from Accumulated funds (Deficits) 

account to Capital Grants in Advance. This 

represents Capital funding received and recognised 

as revenue, but not yet expended at 30th June 

2019. Future affect on timing of recognition of 

revenue in the Comprehensive Operating statement 

is unknown, as is dependant on timing of capital 

funding received and expended. 

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards – 

Definition of Material

This Standard principally amends AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements and 

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors. The 

amendments refine and clarify the definition 

of material in AASB 101 and its application by 

improving the wording and aligning the 

definition across AASB Standards and other 

publications. The amendments also include 

some supporting requirements in AASB 101 in 

the definition to give it more prominence and 

clarify the explanation accompanying the 

definition of material.

1-Jan-20 The standard is not expected to have a significant 

impact on the public sector.

· AASB 2017-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

· AASB 2017-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

· AASB 2017-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

· AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle

· AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement

· AASB 2018-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements

· AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business

Note 8.12: Proposal to join Health Services

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that are not effective for the 2018-19 

reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial and references changes that are expected to have insignificant 

impacts on public sector reporting.

AASB 1058 will replace the majority of income 

recognition in relation to government grants 

and other types of contributions requirements 

relating to public sector not-for-profit entities, 

previously in AASB 1004 Contributions. 

Hepburn Health Service and Kyneton District Health Service have proposed to merge their services in the 2019/20 financial year subject to ministerial approval.

______
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